THE ROLE OF INSURANCE STATUS IN UTILIZATION OF CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION SERVICES AMONG A SAFETY NET POPULATION

By

Stuart Cowburn

A THESIS

Presented to the Department of Public Health and Preventive Medicine and the Oregon Health & Science University School of Medicine in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health

February 7, 2013

Department of Public Health and Preventive Medicine

School of Medicine

Oregon Health & Science University

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

This is to certify that the Master's thesis of

Stuart Cowburn

has been approved

Mentor/Advisor

Member

Member

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of (Contentsi
List of Ta	blesiii
List of Fig	guresiv
Acknowle	edgmentsv
Abstract.	
Chapter 1	: Introduction1
1.1	Specific Aims and Hypotheses1
1.2	Condition Definition
1.3	Prevalence and Burden of Disease
1.4	Risk Factors for Cervical Cancer4
1.5	Cervical Cancer Prevention5
	1.5.1 Pap Screening5
	1.5.2 HPV Vaccination7
1.6	Disparities in Cervical Cancer Preventive Care10
1.7	Rationale for the Study12
Chapter 2	: Methods14
2.1	Data Source
2.2	Subject and Variable Selection15
	2.2.1 Pap Screening Analysis15
	2.2.2 HPV Vaccination Analysis17
2.3	Statistical Techniques
Chapter 3	: Results
3.1	Choice of Final Models
3.2	Pap Screening Analysis

3.3	HPV Vaccination Analysis	29
Chapter 4:	Discussion	39
4.1	Pap Screening Analysis	39
4.2	HPV Vaccination Analysis	44
4.3	Limitations	47
4.4	Next Steps	53
4.5	Conclusions	53
Reference	S	55
Appendix	1	62
Appendix	2	65

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of Pap screening analysis sample: female patients eligible for Pap screening in OCHIN clinics during the period 2008-2010, overall and stratified by insurance coverage group (n=11,560)
Table 2. Prevalence ratios from univariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010 (n=11,560)
Table 3. Adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomialregression model for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010 (n=11,560)
Table 4. Demographics of HPV vaccination analysis sample: female patients eligible for HPV vaccination in OCHIN clinics in 2008-2010, overall and stratified by insurance coverage group (n=18,311)
Table 5. Prevalence ratios from univariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for HPV vaccine series initiation (n=18,311) and vaccine series completion among initiators (n=4,284) during 2008-2010
Table 6. Adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression model for initiation of HPV vaccine series during 2008-2010 (n=18,311)34
Table 7. Adjusted prevalence ratios from multivariable random intercept log-binomialregression model for HPV vaccine series completion among vaccine initiators (n=4,284)during 2008-2010
Table A2.1. Results of sensitivity analysis for Pap screening. Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010
Table A2.2. Results of sensitivity analysis for HPV vaccine initiation. Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for initiation of HPV vaccine series during 2008-2010
Table A2.3. Results of sensitivity analysis for HPV vaccine series completion.Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for completion of HPV vaccine series among those whoinitiated during 2008-2010

List of Figures

Figure 1. Summary of adjusted prevalence ratios for receipt of a routine Pap test by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus continuously insured and the set of the s
continuousiy insured. Bottom paner, dimisured versus continuousiy insured
Figure 2. Summary of adjusted prevalence ratios for initiation of HPV vaccine series by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus
continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured
Figure 3. Summary prevalence ratios for completion of HPV vaccine series by insurance continuity adjusted for age
Figure A1.1. Summary of adjusted odds ratios for receipt of a routine Pap test by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus
continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured
Figure A1.2. Summary of adjusted odds ratios for initiation of HPV vaccine series by
insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus
continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge the support of OCHIN, Inc. and its member organizations, who generously gave me access to the data that made this study possible.

Abstract

This study describes the association between health insurance continuity and receipt of cervical cancer preventive services among female patients who accessed care in a network of Oregon and California safety net clinics between 2008 and 2010. Data were gleaned from electronic health records supplied by OCHIN Inc., a non-profit organization that provides networked electronic health records to community health centers across the United States.

A series of bi-level log-binomial regression models were used to estimate adjusted prevalence ratios and 95% confidence intervals for receipt of cervical cancer preventive services by insurance continuity. Patient-level factors were modeled as fixed effects at level 1. The patient's home clinic was included as a random intercept at level 2.

Three separate cervical cancer preventive service outcomes were examined, each in a distinct population: 1) Receipt of \geq 1 routine Pap test in 2008-2010 among established female patients ages 24-64 (n=11,560); 2) Receipt of >=1 dose of human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine in 2008-2010 in female patients age 9-26 (n=18,311); and 3) Receipt of >=3 doses of HPV vaccine among female patients who initiated the vaccine series (n=4,284). The primary predictor was insurance continuity, as percentage of time in 2008-2010 (continuously insured = covered 100% of the time; partially insured = covered 1-99% of the study period; uninsured = no coverage during the study period). Co-variables included age, race/ethnicity, and household income as a percent of federal poverty level. Patients with documented reasons to forgo Pap screening or HPV vaccination were excluded. Patients who were pregnant during 2008-2010 were excluded

vi

from the Pap analysis. Pap tests ordered for non-screening reasons (i.e. diagnosis) were also excluded.

Insurance continuity was a significant predictor of Pap screening, but the effect varied by race/ethnicity and age. Compared to having full insurance, having partial insurance increased the risk of non-screening only among younger White and Hispanic women. Having no insurance lowered Pap prevalence more for Whites than for non-Whites. Younger, uninsured Hispanics were more likely to receive a Pap than their fully insured peers, a finding that has not been previously reported.

Insurance continuity was also significantly associated with HPV vaccine series initiation and completion, and the effect was again modified by age and race/ethnicity. Partial insurance had an age-specific effect on vaccine initiation, lowering the likelihood of vaccination only in girls ages 13-18. Being uninsured significantly reduced the likelihood of vaccine series initiation and series completion for the majority of subjects. Opportunities for increasing HPV vaccine uptake may exist through promotion of the federal Vaccines for Children program, which provides free vaccines to uninsured and underinsured patients <19 years of age.

The results of this study demonstrate that having continuous insurance makes a difference in utilization of cervical cancer preventive services this population. The study also highlights how electronic health records enable population-level surveillance amongst the uninsured and underinsured without resorting to cost- and time-intensive chart reviews or patient surveys.

vii

Chapter 1: Introduction

The central hypothesis of this study is that health insurance coverage is associated with utilization of cervical cancer preventive services among female patients in a safety net population. Insurance coverage of persons receiving care in safety net clinics, which include Federally Qualified Health Centers (FQHCs), FQHQ-lookalikes, county Health Department clinics, School Based Health Centers (SBHCs), and Rural Health Centers, is often quite fluid and may change frequently. Compared with the continuously insured, partially (discontinuously) insured patients and continuously uninsured patients will be less likely to receive routine cervical cancer preventive services, specifically Papanicolaou (Pap) screening tests and Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination.

The research goal for this project was to identify insurance coverage patterns among a population of women who access care in a network of safety net clinics and evaluate the association between insurance coverage and utilization of cervical cancer preventive services.

1.1 SPECIFIC AIMS AND HYPOTHESES

Specific Aim 1: To compare prevalence of cervical cancer screening (Pap) tests at a coalition of safety net clinics, by insurance status and other sociodemographic characteristics, among women age 21 to 64.

<u>Hypothesis 1</u>: Prevalence of Pap tests among continuously uninsured and partially insured subjects in the study population will be lower than among the continuously insured. In addition, there will be disparities in Pap test prevalence by race, age, and socioeconomic status.

Specific Aim 2: To compare prevalence of HPV vaccine series initiation and series completion at a coalition of safety net clinics, by insurance status and other sociodemographic characteristics, among females age 9 to 26.

<u>Hypothesis 2</u>: Prevalence of HPV vaccination among continuously uninsured and partially insured subjects in the study population will be lower than among the continuously insured. In addition, there will be disparities in vaccine uptake by race, age, and socioeconomic status.

1.2 CONDITION DEFINITION

There are two main types of cervical cancers: squamous cell carcinoma and adenocarcinoma. The majority of cervical cancer cases (80% to 90%) are squamous cell carcinomas. These cancers arise from the squamous cells that cover the surface of the exocervix. Adenocarcinoma, which develops from the mucus-producing gland cells of the endocervix, accounts for most of the remaining cervical carcinomas. Less commonly, cervical cancers have features of both squamous cell carcinomas and adenocarcinomas¹.

Cervical cancer does not develop suddenly and is preceded by precancerous changes in the cervix, including cervical intraepithelial neoplasia (CIN), squamous intraepithelial lesion (SIL), and dysplasia¹. Not all women with pre-cancers of the cervix will develop invasive cervical cancer. Screening can detect CIN and early cervical cancer so that these conditions can be managed or treated to prevent disease progression due to invasive cancer². Screening for cancerous or precancerous changes of the cervix has traditionally been performed by scraping cells from the cervix and fixing them to a glass slide in a method developed by Papanicolaou called the Pap smear (or Pap test).

1.3 PREVALENCE AND BURDEN OF DISEASE

Cervical cancer is a significant public health issue. In 2012, it is estimated that 12,170 women in the United States would be diagnosed with cervical cancer, and 4,220 will die from the disease³. Both incidence and mortality rates have declined steadily over the past several decades, a trend generally attributed to adoption of population screening, although the decline in mortality has slowed since 2003. Five-year survival rates for cervical cancer patients vary by age, race and stage of diagnosis. The 5-year relative survival rate for all ages, all races and all stages of diagnosis was 68% in the period 2002-2008. During the same period, patients of all ages and all races diagnosed with localized cervical cancer had a 5-year relative survival rate of 91%³.

Data from the National Cancer Institute's Surveillance Epidemiology and End Results (SEER) database indicate that cervical cancer incidence varies by age and race/ethnicity. From 2005 to 2009, the overall age-adjusted incidence rate of cervical cancer was 8.1 per 100,000 women per year³. The median age at diagnosis for cervical cancer in all women was 48 years. Over half of all incident cervical cancer cases between 2005 and 2009 occurred in women between the ages of 35 and 55 years⁴. Black women and Hispanic/Latino women shoulder a disproportionate burden of the disease. Hispanic/Latino women had the highest cervical cancer incidence rate (11.8 new cases per 100,000 women) of any racial/ethnic group in the United States, approximately 48% higher than for non-Hispanic Whites. The incidence rate of cervical cancer in African American women was 9.8 new cases per 100,000 women. Cervical cancer incidence was lowest among Asian and Pacific Islanders (7.2), non-Hispanic Whites (8.0), and American Indians and Alaska Natives (8.1)³.

The age-adjusted death rate for cervical cancer was 2.4 per 100,000 women in 2005-2009, and the median age for mortality was 57 years³. Mortality rates increase with age and also vary by race and ethnicity. African American women have the highest cervical cancer mortality rate of any racial/ethnic group (4.3 deaths per 100,000 women during 2005-2009), and are more than twice as likely to die from cervical cancer as White women⁴. The overall 5-year relative survival for cervical cancer among African American women was 56.6% in 2008, compared to 69.0% among White women, and African American women are more likely to be diagnosed with regional- or distant-stage disease for which survival is poorer⁴. The death rate for cervical cancer among Hispanic women (3.0 deaths per 100,000 women) is 40% higher than that in non-Hispanic Whites³.

While racial/ethnic disparities in cervical cancer incidence and mortality appear entrenched, biologic or inherited differences associated with race are thought to make a minor contribution to the disparate cancer burden between different racial/ethnic groups⁵. Rather, the disproportionate burden of cervical cancer in Hispanic/Latino and African American/Black women is primarily attributed to a lack of screening^{6–9}.

1.4 **RISK FACTORS FOR CERVICAL CANCER**

The primary risk factor for virtually all cervical cancer is infection with certain types of HPV. The 12 HPV types most strongly associated with cervical cancer are 16, 18, 31, 33, 35, 39, 45, 51, 52, 56, 58, and 59. HPV types 16 and 18 alone are responsible for approximately 70 percent of cervical cancer cases. Other potentially carcinogenic HPV types include 26, 53, 66, 67, 68, 70, 73, and 82^{2,10,11}. Women who begin having sex at an early age or who have many sex partners are at increased risk for HPV infection and cervical cancer^{2,12}. Persistence of HPV infection and progression to cancer may also be

influenced by a variety of complex and interrelated personal, economic, social, and cultural factors that interact synergistically with HPV to induce cervical carcinogenesis. Such factors include cigarette smoking, immunosuppression, chlamydia infection, poor diet, obesity/overweight, long-term use of oral contraceptives, intrauterine device use, high parity, young age at the first full-term pregnancy, poverty, Diethylstilbestrol (DES), and family history of cervical cancer^{1,2,12,13}.

1.5 CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTION

1.5.1 Pap Screening

Cervical cancer morbidity and mortality risk can be greatly reduced through timely screening and early detection. Between 60% and 80% of women with advanced cervical cancer have not had a Pap test in the past five years. For women in whom precancerous lesions have been detected through Pap tests, the likelihood of survival is nearly 100% with appropriate evaluation, treatment, and follow-up¹⁴. The US Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) currently recommends Pap screening for cervical cancer in women ages 21 to 65 years every 3 years or, for women ages 30 to 65 years who want to lengthen the screening interval, screening with a combination of Pap screening and HPV testing every 5 years¹⁵.

Many states, including Oregon and California, ensure that private insurance companies, Medicaid, and public employee health plans provide coverage and reimbursement for Pap tests¹⁴. Medicare is required to cover preventive services rated "A" or "B" by the US Preventive Service Task Force, which includes Pap screening, at no cost to patients. This requirement will be extended in 2014 to cover all insurance companies enrolled in state health insurance exchanges and individuals newly covered through the Affordable Care Act's expansion of Medicaid¹⁴. Other programs are also available to help provide financial assistance for women with lower incomes and those without insurance. All states are making cervical cancer screening more available to lowincome, underinsured, and uninsured women through the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP)¹⁴.

Healthy People 2020 has identified cervical cancer screening as a focus area for public health improvement, with a target for screening compliance of 93%¹⁶. Based on results from the 2010 National Health Interview Survey, approximately 83% of women with no hysterectomy reported having a Pap test within the past 3 years¹⁷. Pap rates were lower among Hispanic women than among non-Hispanic women (79% versus 84%, respectively). Rates were lowest among Asians (75%). Those without access to health care were less likely to receive Pap testing; 65% of women with no usual source of care were up-to-date (i.e. reported having a Pap test within the previous 3 years) compared to 86% who had a usual source of care. Only 64% of uninsured women were up-to-date, compared to 82% with public insurance and 89% with private or military insurance¹⁷. Similar patterns of screening were described in the 2005 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS)¹⁸. Data from the 2008 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) survey for Oregon indicate that 80% of women surveyed reported having a Pap test within 3 years. Screening rates declined with age, with 74% of women ages 55-64 reporting a Pap test within 3 years¹⁹. Based in-part on BRFSS 2010 data, the American Cancer Society recently published state-by-state estimates of the proportion of eligible women receiving a Pap test in 2010¹⁴. In Oregon, 80% of women ages 21-64 were estimated to have been screened within the preceding three years. Screening

prevalence among uninsured Oregon women was estimated at 52%. In California, 87% of women ages 21-64 reported being screened, and screening among the uninsured was estimated at $76\%^{14}$.

However, several studies, including a recent meta-analysis, have found that patient self-report consistently overestimated rates of cancer screening^{20–22}. Pap prevalence in 1998-2000 NHIS data has been shown to be artificially increased by 8% (observed prevalence 82%, adjusted prevalence 74%)²². A 2012 study of cancer screening in rural Oregon based on medical chart review reported that only 30% of women aged \geq 55 years were up to date for cervical cancer screening²³. A study of Pap screening within a private health maintenance organization in Portland, Oregon also found that overall Pap utilization was lower than found in national surveys based on selfreport²¹. A recently released report based on billing claims from eight of Oregon's largest health plans, two managed Medicaid organizations and the Oregon Health Authority Division of Medical Assistance Programs (Medicaid) estimated the percentage of women ages 21 to 64 in Oregon receiving one or more Pap tests between July 2008 and June 2011 at 71.0% (95% CI: 70.1%-71.9%)²⁴.

1.5.2 HPV Vaccination

The introduction of prophylactic HPV vaccines holds great potential for reducing the incidence of cervical cancer. Effective vaccines have been developed against HPV-16 and HPV-18 and other subtypes. In June 2006, a vaccine (Gardasil) that protects against four types of HPV, including types 16 and 18, was approved by the FDA for use in females ages 9 to 26. In October 2009, the FDA approved a second HPV vaccine (Cervarix) and expanded the approval of Gardasil for use in boys and young men to prevent genital warts, warts, anal cancer, and associated precancerous lesions¹⁴. The reduction of cervical cancer risk by 70% or more becomes a theoretic possibility depending on the number of carcinogenic HPV types eventually included in a future HPV prophylactic vaccine and on the percent of the population vaccinated¹⁰. However, the vaccines do not protect persons who are already exposed to the HPV virus or persons who initiated sexual activity prior to vaccine availability.

To be most effective, the HPV vaccine should be given before a person becomes sexually active, and in three doses within one year. The Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP), the federal entity charged with making recommendations for the administration of vaccines to the pediatric and adult populations, recommended that the vaccine be routinely given to females ages 11 to 12 years and as early as age 9 years at the discretion of doctors. The committee also recommended females ages 13 to 26 who have not yet been vaccinated receive "catchup" vaccinations²⁵. In January 2007, the American Cancer Society published its own recommendations for HPV vaccine use that are generally consistent with those of the ACIP¹⁰.

As of July, 2011, the HPV vaccine cost in the US is approximately \$130 per dose (or \$390 for the entire three-dose series during one year)²⁶. This cost does not include the cost for giving the injections or the doctor's charge. However, most large health insurance companies do include ACIP-recommended vaccines as a plan benefit, and most have agreed to cover the HPV vaccine. The vaccines are included in the federal Vaccine for Children (VFC) program, which provides free vaccines to children and adolescents younger than 19 years of age, who are either Medicaid-eligible, American Indian or Alaska Native, or uninsured. The VFC program also allows children and teens to get VFC vaccines through federally qualified health centers or rural health centers if their private health insurance does not cover vaccinations²⁶.

Healthy People 2020 identified increasing routine vaccination coverage levels for adolescents as a focus area for public health improvement, including vaccination with 3 doses of HPV vaccine by age 13 to 15 years. The target for vaccine coverage is 80%¹⁶.

Recent analysis of data from the National Immunization Survey–Teen (NIS-Teen) indicated that HPV vaccination coverage among females age 13-17 increased between 2009 and 2010; \geq 1 dose of HPV from 44% to 49%, and \geq 3 doses of HPV from 27% to 32%²⁷. Based on NIS-Teen, patterns of HPV vaccine uptake differed by racial/ethnic group and poverty status. HPV initiation among Whites was lower than among Hispanics and American Indian/Alaskan Natives; receipt of \geq 3 HPV doses among those who initiated the series was lower among blacks and Hispanics than among Whites. A difference was not observed in coverage by poverty status for \geq 1 dose of HPV; however, coverage with \geq 3 doses of HPV was lower among those living below the poverty level than those living at or above the poverty level²⁷. Coverage estimates also varied by state and reporting area. Oregon reported a coverage rate for \geq 1 dose of HPV of 54% and a for \geq 3 doses of 38%. Rates in California were similar; at 56% and 32%, respectively.

Data sources that do not rely on self-report have also been used to assess HPV vaccine coverage. A study of HPV vaccine completion among adolescents (ages 8-17) attending school-based health centers (SBHC's) in Oregon, which utilized SBHCs' data combined with data from the state's immunization information system, found that 51% of persons who initiated the HPV vaccine series in 2007 received all 3 doses by December 2008²⁸. Series completion increased significantly with age, differed

significantly between race groups, being highest among White persons (56%) and lowest among black persons (38%), and did not differ significantly by insurance status²⁸.

Several other studies have utilized immunization registry data^{29,30}, claims data^{31–} 33 , or clinical and billing data from paper and/or electronic health records $^{34-37}$ to examine rates and factors associated with HPV vaccine uptake and adherence. In studies utilizing immunization registries, overall vaccine series completion rates among initiators varied from 42% among females age 9-26 in a California managed care organization³⁰ to 55% in among females age 9-26 in North Carolina²⁹. Studies utilizing Florida Medicaid claims data for 2006-2008 found low ($\leq 20\%$) rates of vaccine series initiation among 11-18 year olds^{31,32} and a completion rate among initiators of 27%³². Analysis of outpatient claims data from a university medical center in Maryland in 2006-2010 returned an overall initiation rate of 35% among patients ages 9-26 and a series completion rate among initiators of 29%³³. Studies utilizing both clinical and billing data reported results that varied widely. Rates for vaccine series initiation ranged from 18% among 19-26 year olds at a university-based health clinic in Michigan³⁷ to 37% among 11-18 year olds across four safety net clinics in Texas³⁵. In the same studies, vaccine series completion among initiators varied between 69% and 40%, respectively. Completion rates as high as 75% have also been reported among initiators ages 9-18 based on clinical and billing data³⁶.

1.6 DISPARITIES IN CERVICAL CANCER PREVENTIVE CARE

While cervical cancer is preventable, risk reduction efforts are hindered by persistent disparities in Pap screening compliance and HPV vaccine coverage. Disparities in Pap screening compliance have been attributed to a wide range of factors, including cultural beliefs, perceptions of vulnerability, sociodemographic factors, immigration status, English literacy, and lack of a usual source of care^{6,12,14,38–42}. The role of race/ethnicity as a significant independent predictor of cervical cancer screening remains unclear^{9,38,43–45}. Numerous studies, based both on survey data^{9,46–54} and others sources of data^{23,38}, have highlighted the importance of insurance coverage as a predictor of cervical cancer screening utilization, demonstrating that differences in utilization among uninsured compared with insured individuals persist across racial, age and economic groups. Further, type of insurance affects screening utilization^{46,50}.

Risk factors that have been associated with disparities in HPV vaccine initiation include being sexually active^{32,35}, poverty level³⁷, vaccine program type³¹, practice/provider type ^{36,37}, mothers attitudes toward prevention⁵⁵, and receipt of other adolescent vaccines³⁵. Age, race/ethnicity, insurance coverage and insurance type have all been independently associated with HPV vaccine initiation, but associations differed markedly across studies highlighting the complexity of interactions between variables^{31–33,35–37,56,57}. Risk factors and associations for completion of the 3 dose vaccine series are similar to those for vaccine initiation. Additional risk factors such as use of contraception that required intramuscular injection every three months³⁴ and socioeconomic status³⁰ have also been identified. Psychological and environmental factors such as physician recommendations, perceptions of the beliefs of peers and significant others, history of childhood immunizations, and communication with adolescents regarding sexual topics also appear to influence HPV vaccination outcomes⁵⁸. As with vaccine series initiation, conflicting results have been observed between different studies with respect to the

association between series completion and age, race, insurance type, and insurance coverage status^{28–30,32–37}.

1.7 RATIONALE FOR THE STUDY

Federally-funded safety net clinics are dedicated to meeting and surpassing Healthy People 2020 targets, including those related to reducing disparities in cervical cancer incidence and mortality. To achieve these targets, it will be necessary to increase both Pap screening compliance and HPV vaccine coverage, especially among the vulnerable populations where screening and vaccination rates are disproportionately low.

This study sought to investigate how one particular factor—continuity of health insurance coverage—is associated with the receipt of cervical cancer preventive care among a cohort of women who seek care in safety net clinics. Justification for the study is threefold:

1. Health insurance may play a key role in helping increase Pap screening and HPV vaccination coverage rates to meet Healthy People 2020 targets. However, previous studies investigating the association between insurance coverage and uptake of cervical cancer preventive services have delivered conflicting results. This is especially true with respect to studies focused on HPV vaccine uptake^{28–30,32–37}. Additional research is required to more accurately characterize associations, inform design of interventions, and to provide population-level data to establish baselines and allow evaluation of interventions.

2. Much of the existing research describing disparities in utilization of cervical cancer preventive services, especially Pap screening, has been based on self-reported survey data^{9,27,46–54}. However, survey-based studies introduce the risk of recall bias that

may confound and negatively impact the validity of findings. New studies, based on alternative and potentially more accurate data-collection methods, will allow better assessment of existing data and improve understanding of the factors driving disparities.

3. Where non-survey data has been utilized to explore factors associated with Pap screening and HPV vaccine uptake, studies have typically been limited to insured populations ^{21,29–32,59}. While such studies are important, the findings may not be generalizable to the uninsured and underinsured; a population at high-risk for non-compliance with Pap screening and HPV vaccination guidelines. Medical chart audits have been employed in a few studies to capture data on the uninsured. However, this data-gathering method is time- and cost-prohibitive, thus not well suited to studying disparities among large population groups.

My study leverages a unique resource, clinical and billing data gleaned from a network of safety net clinics that have implemented electronic health records (EHRs), to sidestep the necessity for medical chart audits, reduce the potential for self-report bias, and capture the experiences of a large cohort of uninsured and underinsured patients invisible in claims-based research. The study allows validation of existing research while offering new insights into the relationship between insurance coverage and cervical cancer prevention, adding to our understanding of the barriers to preventive service utilization faced by a safety net population.

Chapter 2: Methods

2.1 DATA SOURCE

This study was based solely on data retrieved from EHRs. Data was supplied OCHIN, Inc., a non-profit organization in Portland, OR, that provides networked EHRs to community health centers (CHCs) serving safety net populations across Oregon, California, Washington and nine other states. As of December 2012, OCHIN included 69 member organizations that operate 271 separate clinics, providing primary care, mental health, dental, public health, early childhood, school-based, and various other specialty and ancillary services to their patients. OCHIN CHCs have served more than 1.3 million unique patients with over 12 million distinct visits since 2002.

OCHIN's EHR data includes Practice Management (PM) information (claims, billing, and appointments) and electronic medical records (EMRs), providing excellent detail on race, ethnicity, poverty status, insurance status, and primary care services utilized by both insured and uninsured clients. OCHIN's data resource is one of the richest CHC-based EHR data sources in the country, and provides rare access to the underinsured and uninsured; groups that are invisible in most population-level cancer prevention behavior surveillance. Data from 30 clinics were utilized in this study. These clinics were drawn from five OCHIN-affiliated CHCs located in Oregon and California. The CHCs included county health departments and not-for-profit organizations. All clinics had both PM and EMR data available for the entire study period (2008-2010). Clinic locations spanned both urban and rural settings, and included primary care/family medicine facilities, school-based health clinics, and several specialty clinics serving teens and homeless individuals.

2.2 SUBJECT AND VARIABLE SELECTION

2.2.1 Pap Screening Analysis

Subject selection: Eligible subjects were defined as females ages 24 to 64 in 2010 that had at least one medical visit at a study clinic during 2010 and, to ensure a minimum level of continuity of care, at least one visit in or before 2008. Patients with a documented history of hysterectomy were excluded from the analyses. Evidence of a hysterectomy was sought as far back as possible in the patient's history through EHR review. Surgical codes for hysterectomy utilized in the query were: CPT 51925, 56308, 58150, 58152, 58200, 58210, 58240, 58260, 58262, 58263, 58267, 58270, 58275, 58280, 58285, 58290-58294, 58550, 58551, 58552-58554, 58951, 58953-58954, 58956, 59135 and ICD-9-CM 68.4-68.8, 618.5. Pregnancy was considered a potential confounder in the analysis. Pregnancy is associated with both the outcome of interest, since Pap smears are often administered as part of routine prenatal care, and with the primary independent variable, since women who may otherwise be uninsured can, on becoming pregnant, access health insurance via state programs (if income eligibility criteria are met) or through commercial high-risk insurance pools. Consequently, subjects who were pregnant at any time during the study period, identified by ICD9 codes 630-679, V22, V23, V24, V72.42, were also excluded.

<u>Outcome variable</u>: The outcome of interest in the Pap analysis was receipt of a routine Pap smear in the period 2008-2010. A routine Pap smear was defined as any completed or resulted order for a Pap smear (CPT codes 88142, 88143, 88144, 88145, 88150, 88155, 88164, 88165, G0123, P3000, P3001, Q0091, 88175, LT388, LT389, LT390, LT420, LP344, LP349, LS152, LS533, LS540, LP921, LP922, LP923, LP924, LP958, LP971, LP972, LS819, LS823, LP1049, LS860, LP1072, LP1073, LP1074,

LP1075, LP1076 and LV683), for which there was no evidence of follow-up for a prior Pap smear abnormality or related diagnosis of a cervical abnormality (ICD9 codes 108.0-180.9, 233.1, 622.1, 795.0, 796.9, V10.41,) during the previous 9-months²¹. All other Pap smears were considered diagnostic tests (e.g. test was performed as a follow-up for a previously detected abnormality). Routine Pap tests were identified via examination of billing codes in the PM module of the EHR and/or documentation of the procedure in a reportable field in the subject's EMR.

Independent variables: The primary independent variable was health insurance continuity as a percentage of time covered during 2008-2010. Percentage of time covered was quantified by summing the total number of days with coverage, identified from the OCHIN database, which included start and end dates for coverage periods. In cases where a coverage records had no end date, coverage was assumed to have lasted three months. Coverage that would not pay for cervical cancer preventive services (e.g. dental, mental health, behavioral health, worker's compensation and motor vehicle accident coverage) was not included in calculations. Periods of insurance coverage totaling <7 days were considered administrative errors and excluded.

The number of days with coverage was then divided by 1,094 days (three years) to obtain a percentage. Subjects were classified into one of three categories as follows: (1) "continuously insured" if they had coverage for 100% of the study period; (2) "continuously uninsured" if they had no coverage in the study period; (3) "partially insured" if they had coverage for 1% to 99% of the study period. Receipt of routine Pap tests was evaluated in each of these groups. Covariates included age, race/ethnicity, and household income as a percentage of the federal poverty level. These covariates were

selected based on the findings of previous studies that examined factors affecting utilization of cervical cancer prevention services^{6,13,31,32,34,39–41,51} and on availability of data. The covariates were categorized to ensure adequate cell counts during analysis.

Age was calculated for each subject on the first day of the study period (1/1/2008) and dichotomized as 21-39 years and 40-64 years. A combined race/ethnicity variable was generated using the following algorithm: if a patient had ever been identified as Hispanic or primarily Spanish-speaking, she was considered Hispanic. Among the non-Hispanic patients, if at any visit a person had been identified as black, Asian/Pacific Islander, or American Indian/Alaska native, she was considered to be that race/ethnicity; if a patient had always been classified as White, she was considered as such. Those without any race/ethnicity data were classified as unknown. Race/ethnicity was collapsed into just three categories for statistical analyses; Non-Hispanic White, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic Other. Hispanic subjects could be any race. Household income as a percentage of the federal poverty level (FPL) was calculated as an average of all household income data over all visits in the study period. Values >1000% were considered missing. Categories of 0-99% of FPL and 100% or greater of FPL were utilized in all analyses.

2.2.2 HPV Vaccination Analysis

<u>Subject selection</u>: Eligible subjects were defined as females who had a least one medical visit during the period 2008-2010 at a study clinic and who were age 9 to 26 at time of the visit. Excluded from the analyses were subjects who appeared in the dataset for only pregnancy-related visits (indicated by ICD-9 codes V22, V23, and V72.42).

Otherwise eligible patients who initiated the HPV vaccination series prior to the start of the study period (1/1/2008) or outside of the recommended age range (9-26 years of age) were also excluded.

<u>Outcome variables</u>: The concept of vaccine uptake was separated in to two outcomes: initiation of the vaccine series (receipt of at least 1 dose of vaccine), and completion of the series (receipt of \geq 3 doses of vaccine among those patients who had initiated). HPV vaccination during a visit was identified using common CPT codes 90649, 90650, TM221, and TM184, which are specific to HPV vaccine. Vaccination records that were incomplete, deferred, deleted, or that preceded the earliest approval date for HPV vaccine (Gardasil, 08/6/2006) were excluded from the analysis.

Independent variables: The HPV analysis assessed the same set of patient-level covariates as the Pap analysis. Race/ethnicity and household income were categorized as for the Pap analysis. Age was calculated on the date of the index visit, defined as the date of first vaccination for those who initiated the vaccine series or the earliest visit in the study period for those who did not initiate the vaccine series. Age was categorized as 9-12 years, 13-18 years, and 19-26 years. The 9-12 years bracket represents a combination of the early and recommended vaccination windows suggested by ACIP²⁵. The two remaining age brackets encompass the "catch-up" period for females who have not been previously vaccinated or who have not completed the full series²⁵. Stratification of the catch-up period into two age groups (13-18 years and 19-26 years, respectively) was adopted to reduce confounding that might be introduced by the fact that HPV vaccine is included in the federal VCF program, which entitles any child 18 years or younger who is uninsured, underinsured, or eligible for Medicare to the vaccine for free⁶⁰.

2.3 STATISTICAL TECHNIQUES

The data sets used for analysis included only subjects with complete information for all covariates. Demographic characteristics of the study populations were described, and tests performed to examine the differences in distribution of sociodemographic covariates among the three insurance groups.

Three rounds of regression modeling were performed to identify the most appropriate method for estimating univariable and multivariable associations between the three insurance continuity variables (continuously insured, partially insured, continuously uninsured) and receipt of each of the outcomes. The first modeling round utilized simple and multiple logistic regression to estimate unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios for receipt of service. Only patient-level factors were included in these models.

In the second round of modeling, a multilevel logistic approach was utilized to account for the possible inter-class correlation of subjects within $clinics^{61-64}$. Patient-level factors were entered into models as fixed effects at level 1 and a clinic variable entered as a random intercept at level 2. The clinic variable was defined as the clinic visited most frequently by each subject during the study period (e.g. the patient's "home clinic"). In cases where a subject visited two or more clinics an equal number of times, the subject was randomly assigned to one of the clinics she had visited. Modeling clinic variation as a random intercept was preferred over entering each clinic into models as a separate fixed effect since the difference between clinics was not of primary interest in this study and the random intercept approach avoids the addition of a large number of nuisance parameters into the models^{61,62}.

In the final round of modeling, a log link function was substituted for the logit link function in multilevel models, allowing estimation of unadjusted and adjusted

prevalence ratios, rather than odds ratios, for each respective outcome. While there is nothing intrinsically wrong with estimating odds ratios, my ultimate interest was in assessing the relative risk of receiving preventive services between subjects with different insurance status. When working with frequent outcomes (prevalence $\geq 10\%$), as was the case in this study, the odds ratio can strongly overestimate the relative risk^{65–69}. In contrast, log-binomial models can generate unbiased point estimates of relative risk when outcomes of interest are relatively common, and the log link has been shown to be suitable in models where all independent variables are categorical ^{65–69}.

In all modeling rounds, independent variables associated with the outcome of interest at the p < .01 level in univariable models were entered into multivariable models. Pairwise and three-way interactions between independent variables were assessed. Backward stepwise selection with an exclusion level of p < .05 was used to identify variables for inclusion in final multivariable models. All analyses were conducted in SAS Enterprise Guide version 9.4 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC) using PROC LOGISTIC for single-level logistic models and PROC GLIMMIX for multilevel modeling. The default pseudo-likelihood method (RSPL)⁷⁰ was used for parameter estimation in multilevel logistic models. Laplace approximation was used for parameter estimation in logbinomial models, which facilitated model convergence and was useful in model selection as the value of the log likelihood at the solution could be directly compared between nested models⁷¹. Several different correlation structures for the covariance matrix of the random intercept (G-side matrix) were tested during multilevel modeling. These tests indicated the models were not sensitive to correlation structure. Compound symmetry was ultimately chosen as the correlation structure. Since PROC GLIMMIX does not

generate an interclass correlation coefficient as part of default output, the significance of the random intercept in multilevel models was tested using the COVTEST statement with the ZEROG option. The ZEROG option requests that the reduced model be formed from the fitted model by imposing restrictions that reduce the G matrix to zero. This allowed performance of likelihood-based tests comparing full and reduced models with respect to the covariance parameters⁷¹.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 CHOICE OF FINAL MODELS

Goodness-of-fit statistics indicated that single-level multivariable logistic regression models were over-dispersed, thus not well specified⁷². For example, the chosen multivariable logistic model for Pap analysis returned a Pearson's Goodness-of-fit statistic = 4.1 (p<.0001) and area under the ROC curve = 0.637, indicating that the model had minimal discriminative ability⁷². Similar results were obtained in the single-level logistic models of HPV vaccination (data not shown). The introduction of a clinic-level random intercept improved model fit and corrected over-dispersion. Logit and log link functions produced similar patterns of association in multilevel multivariable models, although, as would be expected, the magnitude of point estimates and width of 95% CIs differed considerably. Ultimately, log-binomial models were preferred for the final analysis as they provide a more appropriate estimate of relative risk given that the outcomes of interest were relatively common^{65–68}. All results and discussion presented from this point onwards refer exclusively to the output of multilevel log-binomial modeling. For comparison purposes, selected results from multilevel logistic modeling can be viewed in Appendix 1.

3.2 PAP SCREENING ANALYSIS

A total of 12,306 women were excluded from the base population of 24,382 as they had a history of hysterectomy (n=1,680), did not meet the patient continuity criteria (n=8,436), and/or were pregnant during the study period (n=3,694). An additional 516 subjects (2.1% of base population) were excluded due to incomplete race/ethnicity or FPL data, leaving a sample of 11,560 for statistical analysis. Six percent (n=1,217) of all

Pap tests for the study population were ordered for diagnostic reasons thus excluded from the analysis

Sample characteristics: Of the 11,560 women in the analytic sample, 23% (n=2,642) had no known insurance coverage in 2008 to 2010, 33% (n=3,856) had partial coverage, and 44% (n=5,062) were continuously covered (Table 1). Among those with continuous coverage for the three-year study period, 80% had Medicaid, 16% had Medicare, and 4 % had other insurance (mostly private). Among the partially insured group, 68% had Medicaid, 4% had Medicare and 28% had other insurance. Almost one third of the partially insured (n=1,185) were covered for 80-99% of the study period (data not shown). Another 20% (n=784) of partially insured patients were covered for 60-79% of the study period. Coverage among the remaining partially insured patients was as follows; 13% (n=499) were covered for 40-59% of the time, 14% (n=541) were covered for 20-39% of the time, and 22% (n=847) were covered for 1-19% of the time. The average period of coverage among the partially insured was 603 days (SD 350 days) or 55% (SD 32%) of the study period. Roughly two fifths (n=4,839) of subjects in the analysis sample had a home clinic associated with one CHC in Oregon. The remaining subjects were evenly split between the two other Oregon CHCs (n=1,675 and n=1,471, respectively) and the two California CHCs (n=1,617 and 1,958, respectively).

Slightly more than half of subjects (54%) were 40 years of age or older. The mean age in the study sample was 41 years (SD 11 years). Non-Hispanic Whites comprised the largest proportion of patients by race/ethnicity (47%) followed by Hispanics (38%) and patients of other race/ethnicity (15%). Over two-thirds (69%) of patients had an average household income below 100% of FPL.

	Total population		No coverage		Partial coverage		Continuous coverage	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
Total (row percent)	11560	(100.0)	2642	(22.9)	3856	(33.4)	5062	(43.8)
Received Pap test**	7346	(63.5)	1787	(67.6)	2322	(60.2)	3237	(63.9)
Age**								
21-39 years	5324	(46.1)	1479	(56.0)	1985	(51.5)	1860	(36.7)
40-64 years	6236	(53.9)	1163	(44.0)	1871	(48.5)	3202	(63.3)
Race/Ethnicity**								
NH White	5426	(46.9)	928	(35.1)	2246	(58.2)	2252	(44.5)
Hispanic	4424	(38.3)	1523	(57.6)	880	(22.8)	2021	(39.9)
Other	1710	(14.8)	191	(7.2)	730	(18.9)	789	(15.6)
Poverty level**								
$\geq~100\%$ of FPL	3551	(30.7)	1286	(48.7)	1232	(32.0)	1033	(20.4)
0% - 99% of FPL	8009	(69.3)	1356	(51.3)	2624	(68.0)	4029	(79.6)

Table 1. Demographics of Pap screening analysis sample: female patients eligible for Pap screening in OCHIN clinics during the period 2008-2010, overall and stratified by insurance coverage group (n=11,560).

Abbreviations: FPL, federal poverty level. (%) = column percent unless noted otherwise. ** $p \le .001$ test for an association between variable and insurance continuity.

There were significant differences between insurance coverage groups in the distribution of each of the demographic characteristics and in receipt of Pap screening tests. A total of 7,346 (64%) patients from the analytic sample received at least on routine Pap test in the period 2008-2010. Pap screening was most prevalent among women with no insurance coverage during the study period (68%) and least prevalent among women with partial insurance coverage (60%). Among women who had continuous insurance coverage, 64% received a routine Pap test.

<u>Univariable Analysis</u>: Each of the independent variables was significantly associated with receipt of routine Pap testing (p<.001) when entered into univariable regression models. The strongest association was with race/ethnicity (Table 2).

		n (%)	
	n	receiving Pap	PR (95% CI)
Total	11,560	7,346 (63.5)	
Insurance coverage			
Continuous coverage	5062	3,237 (63.9)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	3856	2,322 (60.2)	0.98 (0.95-1.01)
No coverage	2624	1,787 (67.6)	1.08 (1.04-1.12)***
Age			
21-39 years	5324	3,531 (66.3)	1.00 (ref)
40-64 years	6236	3,815 (61.2)	0.93 (0.91-0.96)***
Race/Ethnicity			
NH White	5426	2,899 (53.4)	1.00 (ref)
Hispanic	4424	3,337 (75.4)	1.39 (1.34-1.44)***
Other	1710	1,110 (64.9)	1.16 (1.11-1.22)***
Poverty Level			
100% of FPL or greater	3551	2,335 (65.8)	1.00 (ref)
Below 100% of FPL	8009	5,011 (62.6)	0.95 (0.92-0.98)**

Table 2. Prevalence ratios from univariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010 (n=11,560).

Abbreviations: PR, prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval; FPL, federal poverty level. ** PRs and 95% CI are statistically significant at p < 0.001; *** significant at p < 0.0001;

Hispanic women were 1.39 (95% CI: 1.34-1.44) times as likely to receive a routine Pap test as non-Hispanic Whites; women of other races/ethnicities were 1.16 (95% CI: 1.11-1.22) times as likely. Women ages 40-64 years were less likely to receive a routine Pap test compared women ages 21-39 years (PR 0.93, 95% CI: 0.91-0.96). The prevalence of routine Pap screening among women with no insurance was significantly higher than among the continuously insured (PR 1.08; 95%CI: 1.04-1.12). There was no significant difference in Pap prevalence between the partially insured and those with continuous insurance. Women with lower household incomes were less likely to receive Pap screening than those with higher household incomes (PR 0.95; 95% CI: 0.92-0.98).

<u>Multivariable Analysis</u>: Multivariable models estimating the prevalence of routine Pap testing adjusted for covariates indicated significant interactions between insurance coverage, age, and race/ethnicity. Likelihood-based tests comparing full and reduced models with respect to the covariance parameters indicated that the random intercept was highly significant (p < .0001) in all models. The final model included a clinic-level random intercept, all main effects (insurance coverage status, age, race/ethnicity, and average FPL), three pairwise interactions (insurance coverage by age, insurance coverage by age, insurance coverage by race/ethnicity, and age by race/ethnicity), and a three-way interaction term between age, race/ethnicity and insurance coverage.

Insurance coverage was a significant predictor of receipt of routine Pap testing, but its effect depended on age and race/ethnicity (Table 3; Figure 1). Among non-Hispanic Whites, Pap prevalence was significantly lower for the uninsured compared to the fully insured, both for women age 21-39 (APR 0.80; 95% CI: 0.71-0.91) and for women age 40-64 (APR 0.88; 95% CI: 0.79-0.97). Younger White women (age 21-39) with partial insurance coverage were also less likely to receive a routine Pap smear than their peers with full insurance (APR 0.91, 95% CI 0.84-0.99).

Among Hispanic women, the prevalence of Pap receipt varied more widely within age and insurance subgroups. Hispanic women age 21-39 with partial insurance coverage were less likely to receive a routine Pap test compared to the fully insured Hispanic women of the same age (APR 0.91; 95% CI: 0.84-0.99). However, among the same age group, Hispanic women with no insurance coverage were significantly more likely to receive a pap test when compared to the fully insured (APR 1.11; 95% CI: 1.05-1.18). Among older Hispanic women, having no insurance was significantly associated with a lower likelihood of receiving a Pap test (APR 0.80; 95% CI: 0.75-0.86). Partially insured

		n (%)	
	n	receiving Pap	APR (95% CI)
Effect of insurance coverage by age			
and race/ethnicity			
NH White			
21-39 years			
Continuous coverage	735	434 (59.0)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1149	627 (54.6)	0.91 (0.84-0.99)*
No coverage	368	174 (47.3)	0.80 (0.71-0.91)**
40-64 years			
Continuous coverage	1517	819 (54.0)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1097	588 (53.6)	1.00 (0.93-1.07)
No coverage	560	257 (45.9)	0.88 (0.79-0.97)*
Hispanic			
21-39 years			
Continuous coverage	839	576 (68.7)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	471	303 (64.3)	0.91 (0.84-0.99)*
No coverage	1041	907 (87.1)	1.11 (1.05-1.18)**
40-64 years			
Continuous coverage	1182	916 (77.5)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	409	301 (73.6)	0.94 (0.88-1.00)
No coverage	482	334 (69.3)	0.80 (0.75-0.86)***
NH Other			
21-39 years			
Continuous coverage	286	192 (67.1)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	365	270 (74.0)	1.09 (0.99-1.20)
No coverage	70	48 (68.6)	0.98 (0.83-1.17)
40-64 years			
Continuous coverage	503	300 (59.6)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	365	233 (63.8)	1.05 (0.95-1.17)
No coverage	121	67 (55.4)	0.86 (0.72-1.02)
Effect of FPL			
100% of FPL or greater	3551	2335 (65.8)	1.00 (ref)
0 to 99% of FPL	8009	5011 (62.6)	0.95 (0.92-0.97)***

Table 3. Adjusted prevalence ratios from multivariable random intercept logbinomial regression model for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010 (n=11,560).

Abbreviations: APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval. * APRs and 95% CI are statistically significant at p<0.05; **significant at $p\leq0.001$; ***significant at p<0.0001. Regression model included a clinic-level random intercept, insurance coverage, age, race/ethnicity, average FPL; three pairwise interactions: insurance coverage by age, insurance coverage by race/ethnicity; and age by race/ethnicity; and one 3-way interaction between age, race/ethnicity and insurance coverage.


Abbreviations: NH, Non-Hispanic; APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Figure 1. Summary of adjusted prevalence ratios for receipt of a routine Pap test by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured.

older Hispanic women also appeared to be at risk for no screening, although the prevalence estimate was marginally significant at α =0.05 (APR 0.94; 95% CI: 0.88-1.00; *p*=.054). Among non-Hispanic women of other races/ethnicity, there was no evidence of a significant association between insurance coverage and receipt of a routine Pap smear.

Household income, expressed as percent of FPL, was a significant predictor of receipt of Pap test but did not interact with insurance coverage, age or race/ethnicity. Women with lower household income (0-99% FPL) had a lower prevalence of Pap receipt than those whose household income was higher (APR 0.95; 95% CI: 0.92-0.97).

3.3 HPV VACCINATION ANALYSIS

A total of 3,009 subjects were excluded from the base population of 23,242 as they initiated the vaccine series prior to 1/1/2008 (n=2,257), initiated the vaccine series prior to their 9th birthday or after their 27th birthday (n=2), or had visits during the study period associated only with pregnancy (n=762). Of the remaining 20,233 subjects, an additional 1,922 (8.3% of base population) were excluded due to missing observations for race/ethnicity or FPL, leaving 18,311 subjects in the analysis sample. Six hundred and nine incomplete, deferred or deleted HPV vaccination records were excluded from the analysis, along with 11vaccine records dated prior to 08/6/2006.

<u>Sample characteristics</u>: The majority of subjects in the analysis sample (n=11,867 or 65%) were from one CHC in Oregon. The two other Oregon CHCs contributed 8.3% (n=1,524) of subjects and 5.8% (n=1,057) of subjects to the analysis sample, respectively. The remaining 21% (n=3,863) of subjects were from the two CHCs in California. Twenty percent of the analysis sample (n=3,576 patients) had no known insurance coverage in 2008 to 2010, 61% (n=11,092) had partial coverage, and 20% (n=3,643) were

	Total Population		No coverage		Partial coverage		Continuous coverage	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
Total (row percent)	18311	(100.0)	3576	(19.5)	11092	(60.6)	3643	(19.9)
HPV vaccine**								
Initiated vaccine series	4284	(23.4)	502	(14.0)	2635	(23.8)	1147	(31.5)
Completed vaccine series	1528	(8.3)	188	(5.3)	897	(8.1)	443	(12.2)
Age**								
9-12 years	3152	(17.2)	331	(9.3)	1801	(16.2)	1020	(28.0)
13-18 years	7397	(40.4)	1774	(49.6)	4414	(39.8)	1209	(33.2)
19-26 years	7762	(42.4)	1471	(41.1)	4877	(44.0)	1414	(38.8)
Race/Ethnicity**								
NH White	7149	(39.0)	1583	(44.3)	4221	(38.1)	1345	(36.9)
Hispanic	7363	(40.2)	1319	(36.9)	4491	(40.5)	1553	(42.6)
Other	3799	(20.7)	674	(18.8)	2380	(21.5)	745	(20.5)
Poverty Level**								
0% to 99% of FPL	13129	(71.7)	2279	(63.7)	8082	(72.9)	2768	(76.0)
100% of FPL or greater	5182	(28.3)	1297	(36.3)	3010	(27.1)	875	(24.0)

Table 4. Demographics of HPV vaccination analysis sample: female patients eligible for HPV vaccination in OCHIN clinics in 2008-2010, overall and stratified by insurance coverage group (n=18,311).

Abbreviations: FPL, federal poverty level. (%) = column percent unless noted otherwise. **p<.001 test for an association between variable and insurance continuity.

continuously covered (Table 4). Among those with continuous coverage for the 3-year study period, 90% had Medicaid, 2% had Medicare, and 8% had other (mostly private). Among the partially insured group, 73% had Medicaid and 27% had other insurance. Approximately 22% of the partially insured (n=2,431) were covered for 80-99% of the study period, 17% (n=1,901) were covered for 60-79% of the study period, and 16% (n=1,732) were covered for 40-59% of the time. Among the remaining partially insured

	HPV vaccine series initiation			HPV vaccine series completion			
	n	n (%) initiated	PR (95% CI)	n initiated	n (%) completed	PR (95% CI)	
Total	18,311	4284 (23.4)		4284	1528 (35.7)		
Insurance coverage							
Continuous coverage	3643	1147 (31.5)	1.00 (ref)	1147	443 (38.6)	1.00 (ref)	
Partially coverage	11092	2635 (23.8)	0.73 (0.69-0.77)***	2635	897 (34.0)	0.84 (0.77-0.92)**	
No coverage	3576	502 (14.0)	0.42 (0.38-0.46)***	502	188 (37.5)	0.84 (0.73-0.96)*	
Age							
9-12 years	3152	1494 (47.4)	1.00 (ref)	1494	522 (34.9)	1.00 (ref)	
13-18 years	7397	2341 (31.6)	0.84 (0.80-0.89)***	2341	879 (37.5)	0.95 (0.86-1.05)	
19-26 years	7762	449 (5.8)	0.14 (0.12-0.15)***	449	127 (28.3)	0.75 (0.64-0.89)**	
Race/Ethnicity							
NH White	7149	1369 (19.1)	1.00 (ref)	1369	519 (37.9)	1.00 (ref)	
Hispanic	7363	1835 (24.9)	1.46 (1.36-1.56)***	1835	630 (34.3)	1.05 (0.95-1.17)	
Other	3799	1080 (28.4)	1.34 (1.25-1.44)***	1080	379 (35.1)	0.94 (0.84-1.05)	
Poverty Level							
$\geq 100\%$ of FPL	5182	1122 (21.7)	1.00 (ref)	3162	1115 (35.3)	1.00 (ref)	
Below 100% of FPL	13129	3162 (24.1)	1.22 (1.15-1.30)***	1122	413 (36.8)	0.94 (0.85-1.02)	

Table 5. Prevalence ratios from univariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for HPV vaccine series initiation (n=18,311) and vaccine series completion among initiators (n=4,284) during 2008-2010.

Abbreviations: PR, prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval; FPL, federal poverty level. * PRs and 95% CI are statistically significant at p < 0.05; ** significant at p < 0.001; *** significant at p < 0.0001.

patients 22% (n=2,391) were covered for 20-39% of the time, and 24% (n=2,637) were covered for 1-19% of the time. The average period of coverage among the partially insured was 532 days (SD 331 days) or 49% (SD 30%) of the 3-year study period.

The majority of patients (83%) were age 13 years or older at the index date. The mean age was 18.2 years (SD 4.6 years). The majority of subjects (72%) had a mean household income below 100% of the FPL. Similar proportions of patients were Hispanic (39%) or non-Hispanic White (40%). A total of 4,284 (23%) patients initiated the vaccine series and 1,528 (8%) completed the three-dose series. Vaccine series completion among initiators was 36%. There were significant differences between insurance coverage

groups in the distribution of each of the demographic characteristics and in receipt of HPV vaccine.

<u>Univariable Analysis</u>: *Vaccine Initiation*: Within the analysis sample, vaccine initiation was significantly associated with each of the independent variables. Compared to the continuously insured, the continuously uninsured were less than half as likely (PR 0.42; 95% CI: 0.38-0.46) to initiate the vaccine series (Table 5). Vaccine initiation among the partially insured was also significantly lower than among the continuously insured (PR 0.73; 95% CI: 0.69-0.77). Older subjects were less likely to initiate the vaccine series than younger subjects and the magnitude of the effect grew with increasing age. Compared to the youngest age group (9-12 years), patients in the 13-18 age group were 0.84 (95% CI: 0.80-0.89) times as likely to have received the first vaccine dose, whereas those age 19-26 were 0.14 (95% CI: 0.12-0.15) as likely. Non-White race/ethnicity was positively associated with vaccine initiation. Hispanic subjects were 1.46 (95% CI: 1.36-1.56) times more likely to receive the first dose of the vaccine series than non-Hispanic Whites. Subjects in the non-Hispanic Other race/ethnicity category also had a higher prevalence of initiation (PR 1.34; 95% CI: 1.25-1.44) compared to non-Hispanic Whites. A negative association was observed between household income and vaccine series initiation. Patients with an average household income below 100% of FPL had increased likelihood of vaccine initiation (PR 1.22; 95% CI: 1.15-1.30) compared to patients with higher household incomes.

Vaccine Completion: Significant associations were observed between some independent variables and vaccine series completion in the univariable regression models, but effects were generally weaker than for vaccine series initiation. Insurance

coverage was significantly associated with vaccine series completion. Subjects with partial insurance coverage and subjects with no insurance coverage were less likely to complete the vaccine series than the continuously insured (PR 0.84; 95% CI: 0.77-0.92 and PR 0.84; 95% CI: 0.73-0.96, respectively). Age was also associated with vaccine series completion. Compared to the youngest subjects, those ages 19-26 were significantly less likely to complete the vaccine series (PR 0.75; 95% CI: 0.64-0.89). No significant difference in series completion was observed between 13-18 year olds and the reference group, between the non-White and White subjects, or between subjects with different household incomes.

<u>Multivariable Analysis</u>: *Vaccine Initiation*: As in the Pap analyses, adjusted models estimating the prevalence of HPV vaccine series initiation included significant interactions between main effects. The clinic-level random intercept was again found to be highly significant (p < .0001). The final multivariable model contained a clinic-level random intercept, all main effects (insurance coverage status, age, race/ethnicity, and average FPL), three pairwise interactions (age by insurance coverage, age by race/ethnicity, and age by FPL), and one three-way interaction term between age, race/ethnicity and insurance coverage.

After adjusting for covariates and interactions, insurance coverage was significantly associated with vaccine series initiation, but its effect depended on age and race/ethnicity (Table 6; Figure 2). Among the partially insured, only subjects age 13-18 years were significantly less likely than the continuously insured to initiate the HPV vaccine series. This association held true for Hispanics (APR 0.73; 95% CI: 0.66-0.80),

	n (%)			
	n	initiating	APR (95% CI)	
Effect of insurance coverage by		8		
age and race/ethnicity				
NH White				
9-12 years				
Continuous coverage	304	101 (33.2)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	560	197 (35.2)	1.12 (0.92 - 1.35)	
No coverage	143	43 (30.1)	1.17 (0.88 -1.55)	
13-18 years				
Continuous coverage	484	176 (36.4)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	1929	528 (27.4)	0.85 (0.74-0.98)*	
No coverage	882	118 (13.4)	0.47 (0.38-0.58)***	
19-26 years				
Continuous coverage	557	45 (8.1)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	1732	136 (7.9)	0.96 (0.69-1.32)	
No coverage	558	25 (4.5)	0.57 (0.35-0.91)*	
Hispanic		. ,		
9-12 years				
Continuous coverage	561	325 (57.9)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	873	496 (56.8)	0.94 (0.87-1.02)	
No coverage	129	45 (34.9)	0.77 (0.61-0.96)*	
13-18 years				
Continuous coverage	420	216 (51.4)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	1329	520 (39.1)	0.73 (0.66-0.80)***	
No coverage	447	146 (32.7)	0.62 (0.53-0.72)***	
19-26 years			(1112)	
Continuous coverage	572	17 (3.0)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	2289	54 (2.4)	0.62 (0.36 - 1.06)	
No coverage	743	16 (2.2)	0.48 (0.24-0.95)*	
NH Other				
9-12 years				
Continuous coverage	155	89 (57.4)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	368	185 (50.3)	0.97 (0.83-1.14)	
No coverage	59	13 (22.0)	0.59 (0.36-0.96)*	
13-18 years				
Continuous coverage	305	138 (45.2)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	1156	414 (35.8)	0.82 (0.71-0.94)*	
No coverage	445	85 (19.1)	0.49 (0.40-0.62)***	
19-26 years			(,	
Continuous coverage	285	40 (14.0)	1.00 (ref)	
Partial coverage	856	105 (12.3)	0.90 (0.64-1.25)	
No coverage	170	11 (6.5)	0.49 (0.26-0.92)*	
		(0.0)		
Effect of FPL by age				
9-12 years	070	172 (19 7)	1.00 (ref.)	
100% OF FPL of greater	970	472 (46.7)	1.00 (IeI)	
0 to 99% of FPL	2182	1022 (46.8)	1.00 (0.94-1.07)	
100% of EDL or greater	1957	572 (20 2)	1.00 (raf)	
100% OI FPL OF greater	1857	525(28.2)	1.00 (ret)	
0 10 99% OI FPL	5540	1818 (32.8)	1.15 (1.00-1.24)**	
19-20 years	2255	107 (5 4)	1.00 (mat)	
100% OI FPL or greater	2300	127(5.4)	1.00 (rei)	
U TO 99% OF FPL	5407	322 (0.0)	1.11 (0.91-1.55)	

Table 6. Adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression model for initiation of HPV vaccine series during 2008-2010 (n=18,311).

-

Abbreviations: APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval. *APRs and 95% CI are statistically significant at p<0.05; **significant at p<0.001. Regression model included a clinic-level random intercept, insurance coverage, age, race/ethnicity, average FPL; three pairwise interactions: insurance coverage by age, age by FPL, and age by race/ethnicity; and one 3-way interaction between age, race/ethnicity and insurance coverage.



Abbreviations: NH, Non-Hispanic; APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Figure 2. Summary of adjusted prevalence ratios for initiation of HPV vaccine series by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured.

non-Hispanic Whites (APR 0.85; 95% CI: 0.74-0.98), and subjects of other races/ethnicities (APR 0.82; 95% CI: 0.71-0.94).

Having no insurance was a more consistent risk factor for vaccine initiation. In eight of the nine subject groups defined by age and race/ethnicity, prevalence of vaccine initiation was significantly lower for the uninsured compared to the continuously insured. Among uninsured Hispanic subjects, the estimated likelihood of vaccine initiation declined with increasing age, with 9-12 year olds having an APR of 0.77 (95% CI: 0.61-0.96), 13-18 year olds having an APR of 0.62 (95% CI: 0.53-0.72), and the oldest subjects (ages 19-26) having an APR of 0.48 (95% CI: 0.24-0.95). A similar pattern of association was observed among subjects in the non-Hispanic Other race/ethnicity category. The adjusted prevalence ratio for 9-12 years olds was 0.59 (95% CI: 0.36-0.96), for 13-18 year olds was 0.49 (95% CI: 0.40-0.62), and for 19-26 year olds was 0.49 (95% CI: 0.26-0.92). Among non-Hispanic Whites, the uninsured in the two older age groups were significantly less likely to initiate the vaccine series than the continuously insured (APR 0.47; 95% CI: 0.38-0.58 for age 13-18 years, and APR 0.57; 95% CI: 0.35-0.91 for age 19-26 years, respectively). No significant difference was observed between the uninsured and continuously insured in the youngest White subjects. Household income was found to interact with age when adjusted for the other variables in the model. Among subjects ages 13-18, those with lower household income (0-99% of FPL) more likely to initiate the HPV vaccine series that those with higher household incomes (APR 1.15; 95% CI: 1.06-1.24). No association was observed for either of the

two remaining age groups.

Table 7. Adjusted prevalence ratios from multivariable random intercept logbinomial regression model for HPV vaccine series completion among vaccine initiators (n=4,284) during 2008-2010.

	n initiated	n (%) completed	APR (95% CI)
Total	4284	1528 (35.7)	
Insurance coverage			
Continuous coverage	1147	443 (38.6)	1.00 (ref)
Partially coverage	2635	897 (34.0)	0.85 (0.77-0.93)**
No coverage	502	188 (37.5)	0.85 (0.74-0.98)*
Age			
9-12 years	1494	522 (34.9)	1.00 (ref)
13-18 years	2341	879 (37.5)	0.96 (0.87-1.07)
19-26 years	449	127 (28.3)	0.77 (0.65-0.91)*

Abbreviations: APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval. *APRs and 95% CI are statistically significant at p < 0.05; ** significant at p < .001. Regression model included random intercept (home clinic), insurance coverage and age.

Vaccine Completion: Only insurance and age were significantly associated with vaccine series completion in multivariable models. After adjusting for age, the prevalence of vaccine series completion was lower among both the partially insured (APR 0.85; 95% CI: 0.77-0.94) and the uninsured (APR 0.85; 95% CI: 0.74-0.98), than among the continuously insured (Table 7, Figure 3). Adjusting for insurance status, women in the oldest age group (19-26 years) were significantly less likely to complete the vaccine series than those in youngest age group (APR 0.77; 95% CI: 0.65-0.91).



Abbreviations: NH, Non-Hispanic; APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Figure 3. Summary prevalence ratios for completion of HPV vaccine series by insurance continuity adjusted for age.

Chapter 4: Discussion

This study describes the association between health insurance continuity and receipt of cervical cancer preventive services among female patients who accessed care in a network of Oregon and California safety net clinics between 2008 and 2010. Data were gleaned exclusively from electronic health records. Three separate cervical cancer preventive service outcomes were examined, each in a distinct population: 1) receipt of routine Pap screening among 11,560 women ages 21-64; 2) initiation of the HPV vaccine series among 18,311 female patients ages 9-26; and 3) completion of the HPV vaccine series among 4,284 patients who initiated the series.

To my knowledge, this is one of only a few large-scale studies investigating preventive service utilization in CHCs based exclusively on EHR data. The study highlights how EHRs enable surveillance amongst the uninsured and underinsured without resorting to cost- and time-intensive chart reviews or patient surveys. Over 6,000 patients who had no health insurance during 2008-2010 were included in this study, along with almost 15,000 patients sporadically insured over the same period.

4.1 PAP SCREENING ANALYSIS

The overall prevalence of Pap screening (64%) observed here is lower than reported in survey-based studies such as the 2010 NHIS (83%)¹⁷, 2005 HINTS (90%)¹⁸, the 2008 Oregon BRFSS (80%)¹⁹, and 2010 BRFSS for Oregon (80%) or California(87%)¹⁴. While not directly comparable to survey data, my results, along with those of others^{20–23}, provide some evidence that patient self-report overestimate rates of cancer screening. Based on unadjusted estimates, I also found variations in Pap prevalence that appear to contradict findings from survey-based studies^{14,17,18}. For

example, routine Pap screening in my study population was more prevalent among Hispanic women (75%) than among non-Hispanic White women (53%), and more prevalent among women with no insurance (68%) compared to the continuously insured (64%). I did, however, find a decline in unadjusted Pap prevalence with increasing age, from 66% for women age 21-39 to 61% for those ages 40-64, which better aligns with previously published survey data.

My findings were more consistent with trends reported in the only other known study that used EHR data to examine receipt of Pap tests among a large cohort of patients seen in CHCs³⁸. The prior study, which utilized data from 10 CHCs in Florida, reported unadjusted Pap rates of 36% for non-Hispanic Whites and 64% for Hispanics. Unadjusted Pap compliance was also reported to decline with increasing age, from 61% among women ages 21-30 to 44% among those age 61-64³⁸. Interestingly, no difference was reported in unadjusted Pap prevalence for insured versus uninsured women in the Florida study (53% in both groups received a Pap), whereas being uninsured was a positive predictor of Pap compliance in unadjusted estimates from my study population.

While trends in Pap compliance reported here and in the Florida study were somewhat comparable, my unadjusted estimates of screening prevalence were 9% to 17% higher within equivalent age and race/ethnicity categories. The difference in prevalence estimates may reflect the use of different inclusion criteria in the two studies. In my study, to maximize the potential for data capture, only clinics having both practice management and medical record data for the entire study period were included in the analysis, and subjects were limited to those with an established history at each clinic. In contrast, the Florida study did not limit subjects to established patients, and participating

clinics were in differing stages of EHR implementation. Half of the Florida clinics did not have clinical data available for review at the time of the analyses and relied instead on claims and lab interfaces to determine receipt of Pap tests³⁸. These differences may have resulted in less complete data capture and underreporting of Pap tests in the Florida study, leading to lower prevalence estimates than reported here. In addition, it should be noted that the Florida study varied from this study in how receipt of care was measured and how populations were defined, which may have also contributed to observed differences in results.

In adjusted models, the association between insurance coverage and receipt of Pap screening was modified by age and race/ethnicity. Compared to being fully insured, being partially insured significantly reduced the likelihood of Pap screening only among non-Hispanic Whites ages 21-39 and Hispanics ages 21-39 in my study population, and the effect was identical in both groups. Partially-insured Hispanic women ages 40-64 also appeared to be at risk for non-screening, although the effect was marginally significant. Compared to the fully insured, partially-insured subjects in the non-Hispanic Other category trended toward a higher likelihood of being screened, although estimates were not significant at the α =0.05 level.

Being uninsured lowered the likelihood of Pap screening more for Whites than for non-Whites. Similar results have been reported previously⁷³, and other studies have found lower risks of advanced-stage cervical cancer among uninsured and Medicaid-insured Hispanic patients than among similarly insured Whites⁷⁴. Such findings have been interpreted to suggest that minority women are more skilled than White women at accessing free or subsidized screening services offered in safety net clinics^{73,74}.

Alternatively, the CHCs in my study might have Pap screening programs that are particularly effective at reaching underinsured minorities. For example, it is likely that some or all of the CHCs in this study took part in the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program (NBCCEDP) during 2008-2010, which offers routine Pap screening to underserved and underinsured women. In Oregon, the program provided Pap tests to 18,468 women between July 2006 and June 2011, 29% of whom were Hispanic, 63% who were White, and 99% of whom were \geq 40 years of age⁷⁵. In California, 57,600 women received a Pap test during the same period, 61% of whom were Hispanic and only 8% of whom were White. Almost 90% of the participating women in California were \geq 40 years of age⁷⁵.

While it was not possible to assess the proportion of patients in my study population who were screened through such programs, it is conceivable that initiatives such as the NBCCEDP reduced or even reversed disparities in screening between insured and uninsured/underinsured women, and between women in different age and race/ethnicity groups, that would otherwise have been evident. Lower Pap compliance among uninsured non-Hispanic White women in my study population may also be indicative of particular access-to-care barriers specific to this group. For example, the non-Hispanic White patients include many recent immigrants from Eastern Europe who have diverse linguistic and cultural backgrounds.

Perhaps the most intriguing finding in my study was that younger Latinas (ages 21-39) who were uninsured had a higher likelihood of Pap screening than their continuously insured peers (APR 1.11; 95% CI: 1.05-1.18). While the effect was modest, this is the only example I am aware of that documents higher Pap screening rates in the

uninsured compared to the fully insured, when controlling for other demographic factors. The result is unlikely to be explained by NBCCEDP participation, since the screening program is aimed almost exclusively at women \geq 40 years of age. It is possible, however, that the study CHCs may have concurrently participated in state, county, or clinic-led programs that particularly emphasized Pap screening among younger Hispanic women, contributing to the observed findings. For example, the California clinics in my sample may have participated in Family PACT, a program that provides comprehensive family planning services to eligible low-income men and women⁷⁶. Services offered through program include Pap screening which may have been targeted toward, or heavily utilized by, younger Latinas. A more detailed analysis of screening rates by clinic might provide useful insight into factors underlying this result.

Alternatively, the elevated screening rate among uninsured younger Latinas in my study population may be linked to nativity. Rodriguez et al⁹ found that, after adjusting for confounding variables, foreign-born status was positively associated with Pap screening and mammography utilization among Latinas in California. Moreover, foreign-born Latinas were found to have disproportionately lower rates of insurance compared to US-born Latinas and non-Latina Whites⁹. If uninsured younger Latinas in my study population were more likely to be foreign-born than their insured peers, such a relationship might explain my findings. Additional research on subpopulations within my sample would be required to identify associations between nativity and screening utilization. While beyond the scope of this study, such work could potentially inform public health strategies to improve Pap utilization rates among the diverse population of women seen in the participating CHCs.

4.2 HPV VACCINATION ANALYSIS

Despite the availability of free vaccinations for Medicaid-enrolled and uninsured children, in my study population the overall proportion of subjects who initiated the HPV vaccine series was only 23%. A meager 8% of the total study population (36% of vaccine initiators) completed the series. While these figures are well below the 70% that is needed for realization of the vaccine's potential to reduce cervical cancer rates¹⁰, and below goals established in Healthy People 2020¹⁶, the results are within the range of values reported in prior studies that utilized clinical, registry, and/or claims based data to examine HPV vaccine uptake in populations comprised mainly of publically insured and uninsured patients^{31–33}. As such, the CHC's in my study would appear to be doing no better and no worse in promoting HPV vaccine uptake than similar organizations serving comparable populations around the country.

Unadjusted models of vaccine initiation revealed trends that contradict findings from a similar study that examined multilevel correlates for HPV vaccination in four safety net clinics in Dallas, Texas between 2007 and 2009³⁵. In my study population, less than full insurance coverage and older age were both strongly associated with increased risk for non-vaccination, while non-White race/ethnicity was positively associated with increased likelihood of vaccination. In contrast, neither race/ethnicity, age or insurance status were significantly associated with vaccine initiation in the Texas study³⁵. Differences in demographic characteristics between the respective study populations could potentially account for the dissimilar results. However, it is worth noting that the Texas study included 700 subjects of whom only 3.1% were uninsured, whereas my study involved 18,311 subjects of whom 20% were uninsured and 60% partially insured.

As such, my study had significantly more power to detect effects associated with insurance coverage and other independent variables.

In adjusted models, age was found to interact with race/ethnicity to modify the effect of insurance coverage on vaccine series initiation. Interactions between age, race/ethnicity and insurance program have been reported previously in a large (n=237,015) study of HPV vaccine series initiation among adolescent girls enrolled in Florida Medicaid programs³¹. In my study population, compared to the fully insured, having partial insurance decreased the likelihood of vaccine initiation only among subjects ages 13-18, although the effect persisted across race/ethnicity categories. This finding is difficult to explain in light of the VCF program, which might be expected to mitigate insurance-related disparities for all subjects <19 years by eliminating cost as a barrier to insurance³⁵. The observed results might be explained by additional factors, not considered in my models, which offset the importance of insurance continuity among the youngest age group but not among those ages 13-18. For example, due to regularly scheduled well child visits, 9-12 year olds may have more opportunities for vaccination than girls ages 13-18. In addition, since the 9-12 age-bracket encompasses the recommended age for HPV vaccination, providers might be routinely prompted to offer vaccination to girls in this age group via automated EMR reminders or other clinic-level vaccine scheduling protocols. Also, younger girls are more likely to be accompanied by parents during medical visits, and parents may influence the decision to vaccinate regardless of cost concerns or insurance status. When combined, such factors could conceivably reduce or eliminate insurance-based disparities in vaccine uptake among the youngest age group but not among girls ages 13-18, explaining my results.

The equality of vaccination rates between partially versus fully insured 19-26 olds is also difficult to interpret, but may be attributable to small sample size and infrequency of outcomes, leading to imprecise point estimates and large 95% confidence intervals that rendered results non-significant at the α =0.05 level. It is also possible that the type and/or duration of insurance coverage vary with age among the partially insured, contributing to the observed results. Additional analysis, more closely examining patterns of insurance coverage within age groups, may be required to explain this finding. Such analysis was beyond the scope of this study.

Being continuously uninsured was a more consistent risk factor for vaccine series initiation than being partially insured. Compared to the fully insured, being uninsured significantly lowered the likelihood of vaccination in all but the youngest non-Hispanic Whites. While this finding accords with some previous studies^{33,36,56,77} and underscores the importance of continuous insurance coverage for cervical cancer prevention in my population, the results may indicate that the VCF program is being underutilized in the CHCs studied here. Additional promotion of the program through public health campaigns might help narrow the gap in HPV vaccine uptake between insured and uninsured girls < 19 years, and ultimately reduce cervical cancer incidence in vulnerable populations. Similarly, a campaign to increase awareness of new insurance options available for young adults via the Affordable Care Act⁷⁸ might help reduce disparities in vaccine uptake between insured and uninsured 19-26 year olds.

In my study population, only insurance coverage and age were independently associated with HPV vaccine series completion among those who initiated the series. Subjects with no insurance and those with partial insurance were significantly less likely

to complete the vaccine series than the continuously insured. This finding is important since many HPV vaccine series completion studies have been restricted to insured patients^{29,30,32,36,37,57}, and studies that do include the uninsured typically have a low number and/or proportion of uninsured subjects, thus limited power to detect associations. My sample of 502 uninsured subjects in the analysis of vaccine series completion was almost 60% greater than the largest sample reported in any of the similar studies I reviewed^{33–35,56,77}. With respect to age, subjects in the oldest age group (19-26 years) were significantly less likely than those in the youngest age group (9-12 years) to complete the vaccine series after adjusting for insurance. Similar declines in vaccine completion with age have been reported for women in North Carolina²⁹ and Maryland³³. This type of age-related disparity might be expected since the HPV vaccine is recommended at ages 11-12 and women who are further from the recommended age may perceive a decreased potential for protection, especially if they have been sexually active for several years.

4.3 LIMITATIONS

This study provides a unique view into preventive care received by uninsured and underinsured patients in a network of community health centers. However, several limitations should be kept in mind when considering the results. First, study data are restricted to a finite number of OCHIN-affiliated CHCs in Oregon and California. As such, the results represent a user-rate analysis that may not be generalizable to the broader population. While no comparable national database exists to obtain more generalizable data, the results of my Pap analysis showed reasonable correlation with the only other large-scale study in an CHC population based on EHR data³⁸. Similarly, the

results of the HPV analysis were within the range reported by other investigators studying similar populations using non-survey data^{31–33}.

Second, preventive services were identified using automated search algorithms containing commonly used codes and a small percentage of services may have been missed if they were coded differently. The potential for this type of error is thought to be minor since search algorithms used here were based on scripts developed and maintained by OCHIN's Data Services team for the purposes of federal reporting to the Uniform Data System (UDS)⁷⁹. OCHIN's UDS reporting algorithms are validated by manual chart review during development to ensure accuracy and completeness of data capture. The quality of my data could be verified by randomly selecting a sample of study subjects and checking the accuracy and completeness of electronically extracted data to against a manually-abstracted reference standard. While beyond the scope of this study, other investigators who utilized this approach found good to excellent agreement between manual and electronically extracted data, with electronic methods having notably larger case capture⁸⁰.

Perhaps more importantly, some of the patients in my study samples may have received cervical cancer preventive services elsewhere. I had no information about Pap screening or HPV vaccination received outside of the OCHIN CHC network. For example, Pap testing is available at free or at reduced cost through organizations such as Planned Parenthood, and HPV vaccination may be accessed through school-based health centers or county health departments in Oregon and California, not all of which are affiliated with OCHIN. Consequently, rates of preventive service utilization reported here may be underestimates. Moreover, my results may be biased if patients more likely to

seek care outside the participating study clinics were disproportionally distributed among the 3 insurance groups. This could potentially explain some of the differences I observed.

While the scale of underreporting could not be readily assessed, I attempted to minimize the possibility by limiting study subjects to established patients, based on the assumption that patients with an established medical home would be less likely to seek routine preventive services elsewhere. This contention is supported by research indicating that having a usual sources of care appears to increase the likelihood of being up-to-date on cervical and breast cancer screenings^{49,52,81,82}. Visit data for my analysis sample appear to confirm that study subjects were established patients at the participating clinics. Over 99% of subjects in the Pap analysis had 3 or more visits to participating clinics during the study period. The mean number of visits per subject was 36.1 (SD 36.8), and over 80% of subjects had 10 or more visits in 2008-2010. In the HPV analysis, the mean number of visits during the study period. While not as convincing as the Pap visit data, this also suggests that the majority of HPV analysis subjects were established patients at the study clinics, decreasing the likelihood that they would seek care elsewhere.

It is also worth noting that a 2012 report based on data that covers 75% of the commercially insured population, 71% of the Medicaid population and 38% of the Medicare Advantage population in Oregon, estimated that 71% of eligible women received a Pap in the period July 2008 to June 2011²⁴. In comparison, the Pap screening among women in my study sample was estimated at 64%. Taking into account that my inclusion criteria were more restrictive (e.g. pregnant women were excluded from the denominator and diagnostic Pap tests excluded from prevalence calculations, both which

would be expected to decrease the screening rate), and differences in the study populations notwithstanding, the similarity of these results suggests that, with respect to Pap tests, underreporting may be relatively minor. OCHIN's service utilization data has also been validated in other studies, indicating that among persons with a Mediciad ID, fewer than 15% of diabetic preventive services were missing from the OCHIN data alone⁸³. While delivery of diabetic preventive services is not directly comparable to delivery of cervical cancer preventive services, and my study was not limited to patients with Medicaid IDs, such results also speak to the completeness of the OCHIN dataset. Moreover, fewer services could be expected to be missing from the OCHIN data among the uninsured because persons without coverage have limited options as to where they can access care⁸³.

Fourth, estimated periods of coverage by private insurance may be unreliable. Unlike Medicare and Medicaid data, which is supplied to OCHIN by the state and includes both a start date and end date for each coverage episode, details pertaining to private insurance are collected by clinic staff at the visit. Since staff practices for collecting and verifying insurance coverage vary widely by clinic, the accuracy of coverage data for private insurance also vary. Allied to this issue, in cases where an end date was missing from data on private insurance, I assumed that the coverage episode lasted 3 months. As a result, the duration of periods of private insurance may have been over- or underestimated, potentially resulting in misclassification of patients by insurance category. Some patients may have been classified into the fully insured group when they were insured for only part of the study period, or vice versa.

To test the potential impact of misclassification, a sensitivity analysis was performed by running multivariable models after excluding any patient who had nonpublic insurance (i.e. any insurance other than Medicaid or Medicare) during the study period. Applying this filter, the analysis sample for Pap screening dropped from n=11,560 to n=9,685 and the proportion of subjects by insurance status changed as follows: continuously insured increased from 44% to 48% of the analysis sample; partially insured declined from 33% to 28%; and uninsured increased from 23% to 24%. However, adjusted prevalence ratios for receipt of Pap screening by insurance coverage remained essentially unchanged (Appendix 2, Table A2.1).

Repeating the process for HPV initiation, the analysis sample declined from n=18,311 to n=14,508. Within this sample, the proportion of continuously insured increased from 20% to 23%; partially insured declined from 61% to 57%; and uninsured increased from 20% to 21%. The effect on adjusted prevalence ratios for HPV vaccine initiation was again minimal, typically expressed as a small change in the width of the 95% confidence interval, which would be expected as sample size in each patient category declined. However, for several estimates where the original 95% confidence interval approached the null, recalculation excluding non-publically insured patients rendered the result no longer statistically significant (Appendix 2, Table A2.2). Among the partially insured, this change affected non-Hispanic Whites ages 13-18 years (revised APR 1.00; 95% CI: 0.86-1.16) and non-Hispanic patients of other race/ethnicities ages 13-18 years (revised APR 0.94; 95% CI: 0.81-1.10). Among the uninsured, revised APRs became non-significant for Hispanic subjects ages 9-12 (revised APR 0.83; 95% CI: 0.66-1.04) and 19-26 (revised APR 0.52; 95% CI: 0.26-1.04). Sensitivity analysis on the

model for vaccine series completion (Appendix A2, Table A2.3) changed the estimated APR and 95% CI for the uninsured from significant (APR 0.85; 95% CI: 0.77-0.93) to non-significant (APR 0.86; 95% CI: 0.74-1.01). While the sensitivity analysis indicated that my models may be affected by misclassification of patient insurance status, the overall patterns of association remained largely unaltered suggesting that misclassification is not a major concern.

I also estimated household income as percent of FPL based on the average of all recorded data for each patient in the study period. While FPL is supposed to be calculated at each visit, data were frequently missing, so estimated average FPL used in the study may not be representative of actual household income.

Fifth, while regression models included a random intercept to control for interclass correlation of patients within clinics, the models did not account for organizational differences among the participating clinics that could potentially influence preventive service utilization. Such differences include demographics of staff and providers, clinic participation in national, state, or local prevention programs, scope of services offered, organizational culture, ratio of patients to providers, and geographic location. While beyond the scope of this study, development of models that include such factors may result in improved estimates of Pap and HPV vaccine compliance. Inclusion of other patient-level factors associated with medical history and service uptake may also improve model accuracy and help identify predictors associated with utilization of cervical cancer preventive services.

Finally, this was a cross-sectional study. A causal relationship between insurance continuity and receipt of preventive services cannot be inferred from the data presented.

Despite these limitations, OCHIN's database remains one of only a few such resources that provide a comprehensive record of care for safety net clinic populations. The analyses performed in this study would not have been possible using claims data, which misses services utilized during periods without insurance coverage. Other methods of medical chart abstraction would be impractical given the size of the analytic samples.

4.4 NEXT STEPS

This study highlights how utilization of cervical cancer preventive services in my populations was influenced by the complex interplay between race/ethnicity, age, poverty level, and insurance status. As more FQHCs transition to EHRs, further studies should be conducted to determine whether results are consistent across other geographic areas. Future studies could also be improved by utilizing more precise measurements of insurance continuity and type of insurance, and by linking with utilization data from outside of the FQHC system. Next steps should also seek to leverage the full potential of EHRs by incorporating an expanded list of variables from across the biopsychosocial spectrum. This would help develop a more nuanced understanding of the role of health insurance in Pap screening utilization and HPV vaccine uptake, and inform design of interventions that can reduce disparities and increase overall utilization of cervical cancer preventive services in CHC populations.

4.5 **CONCLUSIONS**

My results illustrate that while CHCs continue to provide important preventive services to vulnerable patients regardless of their ability to pay, having continuous insurance makes a difference for this population. My findings contribute to the debate on health care reform by providing insight into the impact of insurance continuity on

preventive services receipt. This study also highlights the importance of electronic health records as a tool for population-level health research, the results of which can inform policy and practice to reduce health disparities and improve care in underserved communities.

References

1. American Cancer Society. Cervical Cancer Detailed Guide. 2012:55.

2. Vesco K, Whitlock E, Eder M, et al. Screening for Cervical Cancer□: A Systematic Evidence Review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Evidence Synthesis No. 86. AHRQ Publication No. 11-05156-EF-1. Rockville, MD; 2011.

3. National Cancer Institute. Cancer of the Cervix Uteri - SEER Stat Fact Sheets. 2012. Available at: http://seer.cancer.gov/statfacts/html/cervix.html#incidence-mortality. Accessed May 9, 2012.

4. Howlader N, Noone A, Krapcho M, et al. *SEER Cancer Statistics Review*, 1975-2009 (*Vintage 2009 Populations*). Bethesda, MD; 2012.

5. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2008. Atlanta; 2008.

6. Zhou J, Enewold L, Peoples GE, et al. Trends in cancer screening among Hispanic and white non-Hispanic women, 2000-2005. *J Womens Health*. 2010;19(12):2167–2174. doi:10.1089/jwh.2009.1909.

7. National Cancer Institute. Cancer Health Disparities Fact Sheet. 2008. Available at: http://www.cancer.gov/cancertopics/factsheet/disparities/cancer-health-disparities. Accessed June 12, 2012.

8. Freeman HP, Wingrove KB. *Excess Cervical Cancer Mortality: A Marker for Low Access to Health Care in Poor Communities NIH Pub. No. 05-5282.* Rockville, MD; 2005:96.

9. Rodríguez MA, Ward LM, Pérez-Stable EJ. Breast and cervical cancer screening: impact of health insurance status, ethnicity, and nativity of Latinas. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2005;3(3):235–41. doi:10.1370/afm.291.

10. Saslow D, Castle PE, Cox JT, et al. American Cancer Society Guideline for human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine use to prevent cervical cancer and its precursors. *CA Cancer J Clin.* 2007;57(1):7–28.

11. Schiffman M, Castle P, Jeronimo J. Human papillomavirus and cervical cancer. *The Lancet*. 2007;370:890–907. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61416-0.

12. American Cancer Society. Cancer Facts & Figures 2010. Atlanta, GA; 2010.

13. Cook NJ. A Multi-Level Approach to Understanding Pap Smear Compliance Across Community Health Centers in Florida. *Community Health*. 2009.

14. American Cancer Society. *Cancer Prevention & Early Detection Facts & Figures* 2012. Atlanta; 2012.

15. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Screening for Cervical Cancer, Topic Page. 2012. Available at: http://www.uspreventiveservicestaskforce.org/uspstf/uspscerv.htm. Accessed June 12, 2012.

16. US Department of Health and Human Services. *Healthy People 2020 topics and objectives: cancer*. Washington, DC; 2011.

17. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cancer screening - United States, 2010. *MMWR*. 2012;61(3):41–5.

18. Nelson W, Moser R, Gaffey A, Waldron W. Adherence to cervical cancer screening guidelines for US women aged 25–64: data from the 2005 Health Information National Trends Survey (HINTS). *Journal of Women's Health*. 2009;18(11).

19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Data*. Atlanta, Georgia; 2008.

20. Caplan LS, Mcqueen D V, Qualters JR, Leff M, Garrett C, Calonge N. Validity of Women's Self-Reports of Cancer Screening Test Utilization in a Managed Care Population. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2003:1182–1187.

21. Insinga RP, Glass AG, Rush BB. Pap Screening in a U. S. Health Plan. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2004;13(3):355–360.

22. Rauscher GH, Johnson TP, Cho YI, Walk JA. Accuracy of Self-Reported Cancer-Screening Histories : A Meta-analysis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008:748–757. doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-07-2629.

23. Carney PA, Malley JO, Buckley DI, Mori M. Influence of Health Insurance Coverage on Breast, Cervical, and Colorectal Cancer Screening in Rural Primary Care Settings. *Cancer*. 2012:1–9. doi:10.1002/cncr.27635.

24. Oregon Health Care Quality Corporation. *Information for a Healthy Oregon Statewide Report on Health Care Quality 2012*. Portland; 2012.

25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. General Recommendations on Immunization: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). *MMWR*. 2011;60(RR02):1–60.

26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. HPV Vaccine Information For Young Women - Fact Sheet. 2011. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/std/hpv/stdfact-hpv-vaccine-young-women.htm. Accessed June 12, 2012.

27. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National and state vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13 through 17 years—United States, 2010. *MMWR*. 2011;60(33):1117–23.

28. Gold R, Naleway AL, Jenkins LL, et al. Completion and timing of the three-dose human papillomavirus vaccine series among adolescents attending school-based health centers in Oregon. *Preventive Medicine*. 2011;52(6):456–8. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2011.04.010.

29. Tan W, Viera AJ, Rowe-West B, Grimshaw A, Quinn B, Walter EB. The HPV vaccine: Are dosing recommendations being followed? *Vaccine*. 2011. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.01.066.

30. Chao C, Velicer C, Slezak JM, Jacobsen SJ. Correlates for completion of 3-dose regimen of HPV vaccine in female members of a managed care organization. *Mayo Clin Proc*. 2009;84(10):864–870. doi:10.4065/84.10.864.

31. Staras SAS, Vadaparampil ST, Haderxhanaj LT, Shenkman EA. Disparities in human papillomavirus vaccine series initiation among adolescent girls enrolled in Florida Medicaid programs, 2006-2008. *J Adolesc Health*. 2010;47(4):381–388. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.07.028.

32. Cook RL, Zhang J, Mullins J, et al. Factors associated with initiation and completion of human papillomavirus vaccine series among young women enrolled in Medicaid. *J Adolesc Health*. 2010;47(6):596–599. doi:10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.09.015.

33. Schluterman N, Terplan MS, Lydecker AD, Tracy JK. Human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine uptake and completion at an urban hospital. *Vaccine*. 2011. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.03.032.

34. Widdice LE, Bernstein DI, Leonard AC, Marsolo KA, Kahn JA. Adherence to the HPV vaccine dosing intervals and factors associated with completion of 3 doses. *Pediatrics*. 2011;127(1):77–84. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-0812.

35. Tiro JA, Pruitt SL, Bruce CM, et al. Multilevel correlates for human papillomavirus vaccination of adolescent girls attending safety net clinics. *Vaccine*. 2012;30(13):2368–75. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2011.11.031.

36. Dempsey A, Cohn L, Dalton V, Ruffin M. Patient and clinic factors associated with adolescent human papillomavirus vaccine utilization within a university-based health system. *Vaccine*. 2010;28(4):989–995. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.10.133.

37. Dempsey A, Cohn L, Dalton V, Ruffin M. Worsening disparities in HPV vaccine utilization among 19-26 year old women. *Vaccine*. 2011;29(3):528–534. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.10.051.

38. Cook N, Kobetz E, Reis I, Fleming L, Loer-Martin D, Amofah SA. Role of patient race/ethnicity, insurance and age on Pap smear compliance across ten community health centers in Florida. *Ethn Dis.* 2010;20(4):321–326.

39. Coughlin SS, Uhler RJ. Breast and cervical cancer screening practices among Hispanic women in the United States and Puerto Rico, 1998-1999. *Prev Med*. 2002;34(2):242–251. doi:10.1006/pmed.2001.0984.

40. Garner EIO. Cervical cancer: disparities in screening, treatment, and survival. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2003;12(3):242s–247s.

41. Goel MS, Wee CC, McCarthy EP, Davis RB, Ngo-Metzger Q, Phillips RS. Racial and ethnic disparities in cancer screening: the importance of foreign birth as a barrier to care. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2003;18(12):1028–1035.

42. Ackerson K, Gretebeck K. Factors influencing cancer screening practices of underserved women. *Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*. 2007;19(11):591–601. doi:10.1111/j.1745-7599.2007.00268.x.

43. Owusu GA, Eve SB, Cready CM, et al. Race and ethnic disparities in cervical cancer screening in a safety-net system. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*. 2005;9(3):285–95. doi:10.1007/s10995-005-0004-8.

44. Newmann SJ, Garner EO. Social inequities along the cervical cancer continuum: a structured review. *Cancer Causes and Control*. 2005;16(1):63–70. doi:10.1007/s10552-004-1290-y.

45. Schwartz KL, Crossley-May H, Vigneau FD, Brown K, Banerjee M. Race, socioeconomic status and stage at diagnosis for five common malignancies. *Cancer Causes and Control*. 2003;14(8):761–6.

46. Almeida RA, Dubay LC, Ko G. Access to care and use of health services by low-income women. *Health care financing review*. 2001;22(4):27–47.

47. Ward E, Halpern M, Schrag N, et al. Association of insurance with cancer care utilization and outcomes. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*. 2008;58(1):9–31. doi:10.3322/CA.2007.0011.

48. Ioannou GN, Chapko MK, Dominitz JA. Predictors of colorectal cancer screening participation in the United States. *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*. 2003;98(9):2082–91. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2003.07574.x.

49. Sambamoorthi U, McAlpine DD. Racial, ethnic, socioeconomic, and access disparities in the use of preventive services among women. *Preventive Medicine*. 2003;37(5):475–84.

50. Potosky AL, Breen N, Graubard BI, Parsons PE. The association between health care coverage and the use of cancer screening tests. Results from the 1992 National Health Interview Survey. *Medical Care*. 1998;36(3):257–70.

51. Carrasquillo O, Pati S. The role of health insurance on Pap smear and mammography utilization by immigrants living in the United States. *Preventive Medicine*. 2004;39(5):943–50. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.03.033.

52. Echeverria SE, Carrasquillo O. The roles of citizenship status, acculturation, and health insurance in breast and cervical cancer screening among immigrant women. *Medical Care*. 2006;44(8):788–92. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000215863.24214.41.

53. Ayanian JZ, Weissman JS, Schneider EC, Ginsburg JA, Zaslavsky AM. Unmet health needs of uninsured adults in the United States. *JAMA* : *The Journal of the American Medical Association*. 2000;284(16):2061–9.

54. Ross JS, Bradley EH, Busch SH. Use of health care services by lower-income and higher-income uninsured adults. *JAMA: the Journal of the American Medical Association*. 2006;295(17):2027–36. doi:10.1001/jama.295.17.2027.

55. Chao C, Slezak JM, Coleman KJ, Jacobsen SJ. Papanicolaou screening behavior in mothers and human papillomavirus vaccine uptake in adolescent girls. *Am J Public Health*. 2009;99(6):1137–1142. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2008.147876.

56. Conroy K, Rosenthal SL, Zimet GD, et al. Human papillomavirus vaccine uptake, predictors of vaccination, and self-reported barriers to vaccination. *J Womens Health*. 2009;18(10):1679–1686. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.1329.

57. Neubrand TPL, Breitkopf CR, Rupp R, Breitkopf D, Rosenthal SL. Factors associated with completion of the human papillomavirus vaccine series. *Clinical Pediatrics*. 2009;48(9):966–9. doi:10.1177/0009922809337534.

58. Gamble HL, Klosky JL, Parra GR, Randolph ME. Factors influencing familial decision-making regarding human papillomavirus vaccination. *J Pediatr Psychol*. 2010;35(7):704–715. doi:10.1093/jpepsy/jsp108.

59. Schabert VF, Ye X, Insinga RP, Singhal PK, Riedel AA. Five-year routine cervical cancer screening rates and intervals in a US health plan. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2008;24(9):2429–2435. doi:10.1185/03007990802281671.

60. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. VFC Detailed Questions and Answers for Parents. 2012. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/programs/vfc/parents/qa-detailed.html.

61. Brown H, Prescott R. *Applied Mixed Models in Medicine*. 2nd ed. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons; 2006:476.

62. Dai J, Zhongmin L, Rocke D. Hierarchical logistic regression modeling with SAS GLIMMIX. *Bernoulli*. 2001:1–9.

63. Larsen K, Merlo J. Appropriate assessment of neighborhood effects on individual health: integrating random and fixed effects in multilevel logistic regression. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2005;161(1):81–8. doi:10.1093/aje/kwi017.

64. Li J, Alterman T, Deddens J. Analysis of large hierarchical data with multilevel logistic modeling using PROC GLIMMIX. *Race*. 1998;959:1–5.

65. Deddens JA, Petersen MR. Approaches for estimating prevalence ratios. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*. 2008;65(7):481, 501–6. doi:10.1136/oem.2007.034777.

66. McNutt L -a. Estimating the Relative Risk in Cohort Studies and Clinical Trials of Common Outcomes. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. 2003;157(10):940–943. doi:10.1093/aje/kwg074.

67. Pearce N. Effect Measures in Prevalence Studies. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. 2004;112(10):1047–1050. doi:10.1289/ehp.6927.

68. Knol MJ, Le Cessie S, Algra A, Vandenbroucke JP, Groenwold RHH. Overestimation of risk ratios by odds ratios in trials and cohort studies: alternatives to logistic regression. $CMAJ\Box$: Canadian Medical Association Journal. 2012;184(8):895–9. doi:10.1503/cmaj.101715.

69. Barros AJD, Hirakata VN. Alternatives for logistic regression in cross-sectional studies: an empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*. 2003;3:21. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-3-21.

70. SAS institute Inc. SAS/STAT 9.2 User 's Guide, Second Edition. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc. 2009.

71. Schabenberger O. Growing Up Fast: SAS 9.2 Enhcancements to the GLIMMIX procedure. In: Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc. 2007:1–20.

72. Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. *Applied Logistic Regression*. 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. 2000.

73. Adams EK, Breen N, Joski PJ. Impact of the National Breast and Cervical Cancer Early Detection Program on mammography and Pap test utilization among white, Hispanic, and African American women: 1996-2000. *Cancer*. 2007;109(2 Suppl):348–58. doi:10.1002/cncr.22353.

74. Fedewa SA, Cokkinides V, Virgo KS, Bandi P, Saslow D, Ward EM. Association of insurance status and age with cervical cancer stage at diagnosis: National Cancer

Database, 2000-2007. *American Journal of Public Health*. 2012;102(9):1782–90. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300532.

75. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. NBCCEDP Screening Program Summaries. 2012. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/cancer/nbccedp/data/summaries/index.htm. Accessed October 14, 2012.

76. Family PACT. FamilyPACT - California Family Planning, Access, Care, and Treatment. 2012. Available at: http://www.familypact.org/familypact-california-family-planning-access-care-and-treatment. Accessed November 17, 2012.

77. Liddon NC, Hood JE, Leichliter JS. Intent to receive HPV vaccine and reasons for not vaccinating among unvaccinated adolescent and young women: Findings from the 2006-2008 National Survey of Family Growth. *Vaccine*. 2012;30(16):2676–82. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2012.02.007.

78. US Department of Health and Human Services. Young Adults and the Affordable Care Act. Available at: http://www.healthcare.gov/news/factsheets/2011/08/young-adults.html. Accessed December 27, 2012.

79. US Department of Health and Human Services. Uniform Data System (UDS) Calendar Year 2010: UDS Reporting Instructions for Section 330 Grantees. 2011.

80. Newgard CD, Zive D, Jui J, Weathers C, Daya M. Electronic versus manual data processing: evaluating the use of electronic health records in out-of-hospital clinical research. *Academic Emergency Medicine*. 2012;19(2):217–27. doi:10.1111/j.1553-2712.2011.01275.x.

81. Swan J, Breen N, Coates RJ, Rimer BK, Lee NC. Progress in cancer screening practices in the United States: results from the 2000 National Health Interview Survey. *Cancer*. 2003;97(6):1528–40. doi:10.1002/cncr.11208.

82. Hiatt RA, Pasick RJ, Stewart S, et al. Community-based cancer screening for underserved women: design and baseline findings from the Breast and Cervical Cancer Intervention Study. *Preventive Medicine*. 2001;33(3):190–203. doi:10.1006/pmed.2001.0871.

83. Devoe JE, Gold R, McIntire P, Puro J, Chauvie S, Gallia CA. Electronic health records vs Medicaid claims: completeness of diabetes preventive care data in community health centers. *Annals of Family Medicine*. 2011;9(4):351–8. doi:10.1370/afm.1279.

Appendix 1

Selected results from multilevel multivariable logistic modeling for receipt of cervical cancer preventive services. Figure A1.2 shows estimates of adjusted odds ratios for receipt of Pap screening by race/ethnicity and age. Compare to Figure 1 (p.28) showing estimates of adjusted prevalence ratios. Models used to create Figures 1 and 3 were identical with the exception of the link function (log link for Figure 1 and logit link for Figure 3) and estimation method (Laplace for Figure 1, RSPL for Figure 3). Note that although the patterns of association are similar in both models, point estimates in the log link model shrink toward the null and 95% confidence intervals are narrower. Figure A1.2 shows estimates of adjusted odds ratios for HPV vaccine series initiation by race/ethnicity and age. Compare to Figure 2 (p.35). Again, models used to create these figures were identical with the exception of the link function and estimation method.



Abbreviations: NH, Non-Hispanic; APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Figure A1.1. Summary of adjusted odds ratios for receipt of a routine Pap test by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured.


Abbreviations: NH, Non-Hispanic; APR, adjusted prevalence ratio; CI, confidence interval.

Figure A1.2. Summary of adjusted odds ratios for initiation of HPV vaccine series by insurance continuity, age, and race/ethnicity. Top panel; partially insured versus continuously insured. Bottom panel; uninsured versus continuously insured.

Appendix 2

Table A2.1. Results of sensitivity analysis for Pap screening. Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for receipt of routine Pap screening test during 2008-2010.

	Original estimates (n=11,560)	Sensitivity analysis† (n=9,685)
Effect of insurance coverage by age	APR (95% CI)	APR (95% CI)
and race/ethnicity		
NH White		
21-39 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.91 (0.84-0.99)	0.91 (0.83-1.00)
No coverage	0.80 (0.71-0.91)	0.76 (0.66-0.88)
40-64 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1.00 (0.93-1.07)	1.01 (0.93-1.09)
No coverage	0.88 (0.79-0.97)	0.80 (0.71-0.91)
Hispanic		
21-39 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.91 (0.84-0.99)	0.88 (0.81-0.97)
No coverage	1.11 (1.05-1.18)	1.11 (1.05-1.18)
40-64 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.94 (0.88-1.00)	0.94 (0.87-1.00)
No coverage	0.80 (0.75-0.86)	0.08 (0.74-0.86)
NH Other		
21-39 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1.09 (0.99-1.20)	1.10 (1.00-1.22)
No coverage	0.98 (0.83-1.17)	1.00 (0.83-1.21)
40-64 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1.05 (0.95-1.17)	1.08 (0.97-1.21)
No coverage	0.86 (0.72-1.02)	0.85 (0.71-1.03)

†Sensitivity analysis excludes any patient who ever had non-public insurance coverage.

	Original estimates (n=18,311)	Sensitivity analysis† (n=14,508)
Effect of insurance coverage by age and race/ethnicity	APR (95% CI)	APR (95% CI)
NH White		
9-12 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	1.12 (0.92 - 1.35)	1.11 (0.91-1.36)
No coverage	1.17 (0.88 - 1.55)	1.15 (0.83-1.60)
13-18 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.85 (0.74-0.98)	1.00 (0.86-1.16)
No coverage	0.47 (0.38-0.58)	0.46 (0.37-0.58)
19-26 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.96 (0.69-1.32)	0.77 (0.54-1.10)
No coverage	0.57 (0.35-0.91)	0.44 (0.25-0.76)
Hispanic		
9-12 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.94 (0.87-1.02)	0.95 (0.88-1.03)
No coverage	0.77 (0.61-0.96)	0.83 (0.66-1.04)
13-18 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.73 (0.66-0.80)	0.74 (0.66-0.82)
No coverage	0.62 (0.53-0.72)	0.60 (0.51-0.70)
19-26 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.62 (0.36-1.06)	0.61 (0.35-1.07)
No coverage	0.48 (0.24-0.95)	0.52 (0.26-1.04)
NH Other		
9-12 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.97 (0.83-1.14)	0.98 (0.84-1.15)
No coverage	0.59 (0.36-0.96)	0.50 (0.29-0.88)
13-18 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.82 (0.71-0.94)	0.94 (0.81-1.10)
No coverage	0.49 (0.40-0.62)	0.50 (0.39-0.64)
19-26 years		
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partial coverage	0.90 (0.64-1.25)	0.92 (0.65-1.29)
No coverage	0.49 (0.26-0.92)	0.46 (0.24-0.90)

Table A2.2. Results of sensitivity analysis for HPV vaccine initiation. Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept log-binomial regression models for initiation of HPV vaccine series during 2008-2010.

†Sensitivity analysis excludes any patient who ever had non-public insurance coverage.

Table A2.3. Results of sensitivity analysis for HPV vaccine series completion. Comparison of adjusted prevalence ratio from multivariable random intercept logbinomial regression models for completion of HPV vaccine series among those who initiated during 2008-2010.

	Original estimate (n=4,284)	Sensitivity analysis† (n=3,552)
Insurance status	APR (95% CI)	APR (95% CI)
Continuous coverage	1.00 (ref)	1.00 (ref)
Partially coverage	0.85 (0.74-0.98)	0.84 (0.77-0.93)
No coverage	0.85 (0.77-0.93)	0.86 (0.74-1.01)

†Sensitivity analysis excludes any patient who ever had non-public insurance coverage.